THE PLACE OF INTERSECTION

Participatory Research to Update and Align Terre des Hommes Netherlands (TdH NL) Cross-cutting Issues (CCI) Approaches





With the voices of children, community members, implementing partners and staff in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, The Philippines and Uganda

April 2023



The Place of Intersection: Participatory Research to Update and Align Terre des Hommes Netherlands (TdH NL) Cross-cutting Issues (CCI) Approaches



Suggested citation: Terre des Hommes Netherlands (2023). The Place of Intersection: Participatory Research to Update and Align Terre des Hommes Netherlands Cross-cutting Issues (CCI) Approaches. Research, Expertise and Influence Team: Terre des Hommes Netherlands, The Hague.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful for the contributions to our research of many generous and patient people. We thank every person who gave of their time and took part in interviews or workshops. We also acknowledge the invaluable input of key informants from like-minded organisations in all four research countries. Special thanks go to the children who ensured that their voices were captured in this study. Thank you Anne, Jade, Pats, Sir, Seal, Abe, Trisha, Isoy, Jovin, JM, Masum, Faisal, Tafsi, Rome, Geeta, Dola, Prite, Nisa, Himel, Prem, Hamim, Edilawit, Selam, Minalu, Getasew, Nafkot, Meseret, Asmaru, Habtamu, Worknesh, Esubalew, Lotiang, Akiteng, Lemukol, Abura, Moru, Sakiri, Nangiro, Leper, Maruk, Aggy, Suzy and Longole.

Undertaking research in four countries was a process and would never have been possible without the tireless efforts and support of our colleagues and partners in the research countries. Eva Maria Cayanan, Sunshine Kristia Cupo, Lenybeth Magoliman, Evangeline Torres, Pamela Uy, Judith Pulvera, Lorna Cabanes, Christine Quinamague, Emily Sumugat, Ashley Nova Tiengo, Remlan Umel, Subrina Sharmin, Monirul Islam, Subarata Kumar, Anik Tanvi, David Mwa, Edward Lokut, Jolly Grace Abura, Girma Amentie Gari, Abebe Mengiste Alemu, Woretaw Chekol, Muluken Mihret and Aragash, we are most grateful.

Finally, we acknowledge the invaluable contributions and wisdom of subject matter experts Silvie Bovarnick, Claire Cody, Anita Franklin, Aisling Ledwith, Mary Wickenden, Emily Delap, Sonal Kapoor and Shipra Jha.

Research team: Angela Nyamu¹ (corresponding researcher), Carolina Savonitto^{2,3}, Daniel Giichi Murakaru^{1,5}, Eva Notté³, Hilde Neels (safeguarding focal point)³, Jean Elphick (primary researcher)³, Lou Nijhuis^{2,3}, Nathalie Meurens³, Patricia Beerda^{4,3}, Priti Mahara³.

Illustrations: Research participants and Srishti Sarawagi

The Place of Intersection study helped build the TdH NL Principles for Effective Programming course curriculum.



ND RESPOND TO CHILD EXPLOITATIO



S FOR EFFECTIVE PROGRAMMING TO



ugust 2026 hiopia

¹Terre des Hommes Netherlands (TdH NL) East Africa Regional Office, Riverside Lane West, Nairobi, Kenya ² International and European Law Programme - Bestuur, Recht en Veiligheid Faculty, The Hague University of Applied Sciences, Johanna Westerdijkplein 75, 2521 EN Den Haag, Netherlands

³ Terre des Hommes Netherlands (TdH NL), Zoutmanstraat 42-44, 2518 GS Den Haag, Netherlands, www. terredeshommes nl

⁴ Faculteit Rechtsgeleerdheid - International and European Law Department, University of Groningen, Oude Kijk in 't Jatstraat 26 9712 EK Groningen, The Netherlands

⁵ School of Law, Kenyatta University, Off Chemilil Road, Nairobi, Kenya

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Chil | d Friendly Summary | 6 |
|------|--|----|
| CHA | APTER 1: OVERVIEW OF THE STUDY | 14 |
| 1.1 | Introduction | 15 |
| 1.2 | Methodology | 16 |
| | Data collection | 16 |
| | Data Analysis | 18 |
| | Validation among children | 19 |
| | Ethical Considerations | 19 |
| | Limitations | 20 |
| CHA | 22 | |
| 2.1 | Origin as a partner contract review tool for funding renewal | 23 |
| 2.2 | Aspirations for quality and standardisation | 25 |
| 2.3 | Faltering progress | 26 |
| 2.4 | Recovering ground | 28 |
| CHA | APTER 3: TAKING STOCK | 30 |
| 3.1 | Child Participation Outcomes | 31 |
| 3.2 | Gender Mainstreaming Outcomes | 50 |
| 3.3 | Inclusion of Children with Disabilities Outcomes | 63 |
| 3.4 | Minimum Standards of Alternative Care Outcomes | 81 |
| 3.5 | Insights gained from five years of experience | 98 |

CHAPTER 4: CHARTING A WAY FO

- 4.1 Introduction
- 4.2 Recommendations
 - 1. Embed important principles f in strategic goals and core pr stand alone cross-cutting iss
 - 2. Provide stable leadership and
 - 3. Support implementation
 - 4. Provide structured, ongoing opportunities
 - 5. Adaptable framework

REFERENCES

| RWARD | 106 |
|--|-----|
| | 107 |
| | 107 |
| for effective programming rinciples as opposed to sues | 107 |
| d accountability | 109 |
| | 109 |
| training and learning | 111 |
| | 112 |
| | 114 |
| | |



\mathbf{R} SUMMARY

Who started this study?





This report is about how we can improve our work to protect children better. We want to make sure that children are listened to.

We also want to show that all children, no matter how different they are (boy, girl, other gender, ability) should be included and protected. Family is very important to children, however, some children do not have parents or their own families, but they too need to be protected so that they are safe. If this is not done, many children will be at risk of exploitation.

We are called Terre des Hommes Netherlands (TdH NL). This is an organisation that works to protect children around the world from exploitation.

Child Exploitation is when somebody (mostly adults) or groups of people take advantage of a child for his/her own (adult) benefit.

What is this report about?

We want to make sure that the rights of ALL children are protected.



How did we make this report?

1. We read books and other reports/articles written by people who know a lot about protecting children to understand what is important when protecting children. We made notes/summaries about it.



2. We talked to people who work at Terre des Hommes Netherlands (TdH NL) in different countries.

We asked them guestions about other children focused organisations they partner with (TdH NL partners), that are doing good work to protect children, especially those that ensure:

- Children are listened to and decisions are made with them and by them.
- · Children with disabilities are included in their activities.
- · Children of all genders are included (boys, girls, other gender).
- Children without families are well protected.





Bidlisiw Foundation Inc.





We went to four countries (Bangladesh, Ethiopia, The Philippines and Uganda), to talk to children and community members. We organised 9 workshops in the four countries.

In these 4 countries, we worked with partners who helped us set up the workshops with children and community members. We acknowledge their huge support.







Terre des Hommes Netherlands | The Place of Intersection - Child Friendly Summary

We spoke with **44** children and **39** community members to understand what the obstacles are with protecting children and what are good things that TdH NL is doing and what we can do better in the future.

We took notes.

We asked questions to:

- 15 people who work at TdHNL.
- 5 people who work in other organisations that protect children.
- 8 experts (people who know a lot about protecting children).

We did this to understand what are good things that we can do in the future for children. We took notes.

What did we find out?

Child Participation (Listening to children and making decisions informed by children's views).







6. We met with the children that participated in the workshops in the 4 countries, online. We met with them to discuss and confirm what we had found out from the research. It was also a good and fun way to meet other children who took part in the workshops



5. We read and analysed all the notes. We read and analysed all the reports that were written about projects done with partners of TdH NL.

6. We wrote the report.













- In the past, child participation activities were mostly organised by adults for children.
- In the future, children want to collaborate to organise activities and sometimes take the lead.
- A good way for children to participate and learn how to take the lead are child rights clubs.
- Children want to participate in activities where they can create change in their community, and they want to be involved in peer support and education.
- It is important that all children have an opportunity to participate, no matter their gender, sexuality, disability or ethnicity.



Gender Mainstreaming (Making sure services recognise the different needs of all children and include them without discrimination).



Often people do not understand what gender mainstreaming means.



In the past, people focused on promoting gender equality and girls' rights. One of the ways they did this was by changing the attitude and behaviour of boys and men towards girls and women.

Sometimes culture, tradition and religion create challenges to gender mainstreaming.



In the future, it is important to create safe spaces for mixed groups of children to talk and learn together. It is important that girls, boys, and gender-diverse children are included and protected if they are at risk of child exploitation.



Inclusion of Children with Disabilities (Children with disabilities are included and have the right to participate)











In the past, children with disabilities were rarely included in activities with other children. They were sent to a special place or programme for children with disabilities only.

In the past, people thought that only certain types of disabilities were important to include in activities.

Sometimes people include only some children with disabilities because some disabilities are difficult to see and people might not know that a child needs help.

In the future, it is important to make sure that all children can participate in programmes, and that activities can be adjusted and changed so that children with disabilities can also take part.



Minimum Standards of Alternative Care (Good quality of care for children who are not living with their parents or family)



Sometimes children need to live away from their families. However, this can put them at risk of being taken advantage of or abused.



In the past, children that could not live with their families were always sent to institutions like orphanages or residential children's or care homes.



In the future, it is important to do everything possible to keep children with their families and to find loving and safe places for children who can't live with their families.



In the future, people who work to take care of children who do not have families must make sure that children are safe and have quality care and their basic needs met.

CHILDREN ARE THE FUTURE



1.1 Introduction

Terre des Hommes Netherlands (TdH NL) introduced four Crosscutting Issues (CCIs) in 2017. These CCIs were identified as essential pillars of practice needed for the successful prevention of child exploitation:

1. Child Participation

CHAPTER 1

OVERVIEN

OF THE

STUDY

- 2. Gender Mainstreaming
- 3. Inclusion of Children with Disabilities
- 4. Minimum Standards of Alternative Care

RESEARCH QUESTIONS

- 1. To what extent was TdH NL able to achieve gender mainstreaming, child participation, inclusion of children with disabilities and minimum standards of alternative care in programming between 2017 and 2022? a. How are the CCIs reflected in the experience and practices of children and communities, project partners and TdH NL staff? b. What good practices exist in relation to each CCI?
- - c. What critique or lessons learned exist in relation to each CCI?
- 2. What is needed to update the approach of TdH NL?
 - a. What new evidence (from literature and like-minded organisations) or internal developments have emerged since 2017 that should inform updated positions? b. What key concepts do people need to understand in order to successfully prevent
 - or respond to child exploitation?
 - c. What is necessary for organisations to successfully prevent or respond to child exploitation?

⁶ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2023b

- Following five completed years of implementation, and with the introduction of a new organisational theory of change and Listen Up! Strategy,⁶ the need to reflect, update and realign arose. This study was undertaken in order to benefit from lessons learned between 2017 and 2022, update our positions and inform training resource development.
- This report includes a reflection on how the CCIs were conceptualised, how and why they were introduced (Chapter 2); a discussion of the implementation of the CCIs and the good practices that emerged between 2017 and 2022 (Chapter 3); and recommendations for the future (Chapter 4).



1.2 Methodology

This study was situated within the frameworks of children's rights⁷ and intersectionality.⁸ In addition, the recommendations for the way forward were informed by the TdH NL Core Principles.⁹ Using multiple mixed methods this study collected primary data from four target groups (children, community members, partners and TdH NL staff) at four research sites. These data were supplemented by interviews with experts, a literature review and a document review of project monitoring and evaluation reports. The study was undertaken from mid-2022 following ethical clearance from local authorities in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, The Philippines and Uganda.

Data collection

Several data collection methods were used (summarised in Table 1). A range of participants were sampled for the study. All children sampled were existing and well-established participants in partner organisation programming. Selection criteria were applied, ensuring selection of children from diverse backgrounds, marginalised children, including but not limited to children from low-income areas, children of single parents, children with disabilities and children out of school. Depending on the context, the researchers aimed to include children from lower castes, minority groups and children who live in rural areas.

In workshops and interviews neither audio, nor video-recording devices were used. In each, live transcription was typed by dedicated scribes using note-taking templates. This decision was made in order to make children especially feel comfortable, and avoid risk of retraumatisation. Transcripts were translated to English where necessary by the scribes.

Table 1. Overview of data collection methods and samples

Literature Review

Relevant literature from peer-reviewed journals and grey material from children's organisations were included in the literature reviews undertaken on each of the four issues (child participation, gender mainstreaming, inclusion and alternative care). Sources from 2012 onwards were included.

Staff Survey

ńÓ

An online survey was distributed to 79 TdH NL staff members via their managers. Three weeks were allowed for responses. 26 responses (33% response rate) were received. The staff survey assisted in identifying partners who demonstrated good practice and informed the selection of research sites.

⁷Convention on the Rights of the Child, 1989



Association for Community Development (Bangladesh), ANPPCAN Ethiopia, Bidlisiw Foundation (Philippines) and Dwelling Places (Uganda) hosted inclusive and participatory children's workshops in the fourth quarter

Workshop content was designed to take about 12 hours in total with each cohort of children. These were either conducted over two consecutive days, or over multiple shorter sessions, guided by a facilitation manual. Two sets of children's workshops were conducted in Uganda to accommodate in-school and out-of-school groups of

- Children were aged between 10 and 19 years old (mean 15, mode 16).
- 59% of the children were girls (n=26), 5% were gender diverse (n=2), and the remaining 36% were
- 14% had a disability (n=6). Types of impairments were commonly physical, intellectual, learning and communication impairments.
- 74% were enrolled in school (n=32) and, for a range of reasons, the remainder were out of school.
- 58% were children's club members (n=25), the rest participated in other types of child exploitation prevention or response programming.
- Some children had a history of exploitation, however, this personal data was not required or collected, so prevalence of child exploitation among the cohort was not determined.

Two-hour workshops were conducted with community members in each country.

- 41% were female (n=16), 59% male (n=23), 5% were transgender (n=2)
- 3% (n=1) had a disability
- Sample included local government officials,
 - community leaders, teachers, religious leaders,
 - police officers, parents and social workers.

⁸ See Crenshaw, 1990; Nadan & Korbin, 2018

⁹ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2023a

¹⁰ Workshops were designed using universal design principles, detailed by Feldman et al. (2012), to accommodate accessibility needs to ensure that children with various impairments or other support needs were able to meaningfully participate.

| 28 Structured Key Informant Interviews | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|
| | 15 staff and partner staff | In each country, staff from the respective TdH NL country office and partner organisations were interviewed (in person or online) for up to an hour. | | |
| | 5 like-minded organisation staff | In each country, like-minded organisations were identified by country staff for an in-person interview of 30 to 60 minutes. | | |
| | 8 experts | Experts on each CCI were identified through networks of the researchers to provide additional input. | | |

Document Review

38 CCI quarterly reports were reviewed. Reports were collected for all projects undertaken by selected partner organisations in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, The Philippines and Uganda between 2018 and 2022.

Validation Workshops



PDF

Hybrid validation workshops were conducted with 43 of the children who participated in the country workshops.

Data analysis

Transcripts from the survey, interviews, field notes, participatory workshop observation notes and minutes were coded using qualitative thematic analysis, assisted by ATLAS.ti Web software. Both deductive and inductive coding were used in series. The research questions informed the creation of a codebook set of initial 53 codes. As this research was exploratory, inductive coding was used to capture emerging themes not directly linked to the research questions. 319 new codes (inductive) were added as the data was coded.

Coded data were analysed in a four-step process. First, the data was explored and visualised. This meant looking at the relationships between codes (codes which were applied to the same quotation) and between codes and documents (such as topics mentioned across the years or countries) with the use of Sankey charts and tables. Second, the data exploration and visualisation were used to identify patterns and themes. Once these were established, themes were further analysed to make sense of the context, seek out alternative explanations or contradictions. Finally, themes with explanations and context analyses were supplemented by illustrative quotes from the research participants.

To facilitate reliability and counter subjectivity and biases inherent to qualitative analysis, the research team made use of several methods. First, to promote intercoder reliability, the data analysis team independently coded a test document. The document was reviewed as a group and discussed so that a similar approach was taken by the various members of the team. Second, two researchers were assigned to code each document, one deductively, the other with the inductive codes. Third, weekly meetings were held to discuss the progress and reflect on emergent themes. During meetings, time was reserved to discuss how the analysis might be influenced by personal beliefs and biases. Additionally, there was a focus on finding alternative explanations and contradicting findings to avoid tunnel vision. These were recorded in memos in the AtlasTiWeb application.

Validation among children

During the writing process, validation workshops were held with the child participants of the research. Importantly, this validation was limited to children's experiences and did not extend to validation of the findings regarding outcomes of the CCI framework implementation. The objectives of the validation workshops were to 1) increase the meaningful participation of child participants, 2) for children who participated in the research to get to know their counterparts from other countries, 3) to check with participants if the findings stemming from the workshops were correct and valid, and 4) to clarify some contradicting or unclear findings. Two online validation meetings were held, one with three countries and a separate one with the remaining country that could not participate in the bigger meeting.

Before the validation meeting, country and partner staff who were also present during the participatory workshops received the list of topics that would be discussed during the meeting. Staff had a discussion with the children before the workshop to make the objectives clear and to talk about the questions. In this way, children were fully aware of what was about to happen, and they already had the opportunity to think about and prepare their answers for the meeting.

Both online sessions followed the same structure, except for the part where children from different countries got to know each other in the meeting with one country. The first half of the validation meeting was filled with icebreaker questions and activities. In the second half, the focus was validating the research questions. In the bigger meeting, breakout rooms were created for each country to discuss the pre-disseminated questions, where there was at least one facilitator that was present in the country workshops for familiarity. In the other meeting, findings were discussed plenary. A note taker was present for every country and other notes from country staff and partners were shared after the meeting. These notes were incorporated in the report.

Ethical Considerations

TdH NL is committed to the comprehensive safeguarding of children and highest ethical standards of research. Being a child protection organisation, policy, procedures and reporting mechanisms ensure that TdH NL activities adhere to the principles of 'do no harm' and 'best interests of the child'. The study secured ethics approval from ethical review boards in the 4 research countries, namely:

- The Institutional Review Board of the Institute of Health Economics, University of Dhaka, Bangladesh;
- Ethiopian Society of Sociologists, Social Workers and Anthropologists, Institutional Review Board;
- Philippine Social Science Council, Social Science Ethics Review Board;
- 4. Mildmay Uganda Research Ethics Committee.

The TdH NL Child Safeguarding Policy (2016) was implemented and overseen by a designated Safeguarding Focal Point person in each research site. A Safeguarding Focal Point person was also appointed to oversee safeguarding aspects of the research project overall, including ensuring that data collection methods were inclusive, trauma-informed and unlikely to cause harm to participants. For the Research and Validation sessions, safeguarding plans were developed. These highlighted safeguarding considerations and standards in regard to ethical clearance, qualifications of staff, selection of participants, informed consent and assent, confidentiality, health and safety measures during travel and at the venues, recording of data and data storage. Special considerations were given to the facilitation of the session for children and the mandatory debriefs with children that took place in the weeks after data collection.

All members of the research team, staff and partner staff signed the Policy (including a code of conduct) and completed training on the Safeguarding Policy. All members of the research team completed an online course and received certificates in Protecting Human Research Participants provided by PHRP Training. For each country, a child safeguarding risk assessment was developed with country and partner staff to identify and mitigate potential risks of the study.

Considering the needs of children targeted for the study, various steps were coordinated with the local partners before the workshops started to ensure that a counsellor was available and on call in the event that the topics or content was an upsetting to the children or if any child discloses abuse that has not been or were not already under management. Beforehand, the workshops and activities were discussed with country staff to ensure the safety of the participating children. During the workshops continuous assent and check-in moments were used to ensure that the participants continued to feel safe. To further enhance the ethical considerations, and to fully respect the autonomy and selfdetermination of participants, particularly vulnerable participants (by virtue of age for children, disability or risk of coercion or exploitation), participation was opt-in and voluntary.

One safeguarding concern was raised after the workshops. It was raised that one of the children's workshop activities might make children with a history of sexual exploitation feel uncomfortable. In response the activity was modified for future workshops. No further follow up was requested by the safeguarding focal point after follow up with children from the workshop.

Limitations

The CCI research had several limitations and was a learning experience- both regarding answering the research questions and the process of implementing a multi-country research project within TdH NL. Undertaking the study in four very different country settings added complexity, notwithstanding an Ebola outbreak and typhoon warnings at the time of the workshops in-country. Experimenting with multiple new research methods with a trauma-informed approach was new within the organisation and the research team and entailed a process of discovery both methodologically and in terms of practical, logistical planning.

First, undertaking the study in four countries required planning and adaptation to each context. Ethics clearance was obtained in each country, requiring four separate and differing processes. This took significant time and assistance from country offices, but also placed some limitations on sampling. For example, recruitment of a diverse sample was difficult in countries where barriers to equality are structurally embedded. Furthermore, languages differed, requiring translation of forms and workshop materials, close collaboration and cofacilitation with local partner staff members, and translation of workshop data. Inevitably this led to the loss of nuance and detail in

the workshop data especially. This was in some part mitigated by spending time in each research setting, planning 12 hours of workshop engagement with children to allow time to learn and share together and use of multiple mixed methods to triangulate data.

Secondly, undertaking research among especially vulnerable groups- including children who had been victimised and exploited- required careful and sensitive preparation and adaptation of methods of data recording. No audio recording, video or photographs of children were made. During each workshop, scribes were employed to live transcribe. The scribes then translated the transcriptions to English. Overall, this method was successful, but there was variation in the quality of transcription. Furthermore, discussion of the topics did require some specialised knowledge, and some subtle issues were picked up with concepts that got lost in translation. For example, the distinction between 'child abuse' and 'child exploitation'. To the extent possible this was mitigated by orientation of scribes the days prior to the workshops, the use of transcript templates that matched the structure of the workshop participatory activities, having one researcher to cofacilitate the workshop, with a second to support the scribe and take observation notes to supplement the transcripts and finally reading the transcripts after each day and working with the scribes to clarify grey areas. Despite these efforts, it was inevitable that the scribes sometimes summarised or paraphrased the views of the participants rather than transcribing verbatim.

Other limitations related to change in relationships with staff and partners. Staff turnover both in country offices and partners meant that many times those familiar with the CCIs or who had been trained on them were no longer in place. Additionally, two of the partner organisations implemented programmes during the five-year period under review but were not implementing TdH NL programming at the time of data collection. This required respect for their time. To the extent possible, the research team worked to collaborate and fit in with timelines and needs of each country and partner. To mitigate the effect of staff turnover, historical CCI reports were added to the dataset.

The chapter looks back at how the CCIs came to be and were introduced in the organisation, reflecting back how they evolved from the initial rationale.

2.1 Origin as a partner contract review tool for **funding renewal**

The CCIs were first discussed in late 2016 and introduced as part of quality standards assessments for partner contracts in 2017. At the time, each partner organisation signed a one-year contract with TdH NL, which were subject to renewal every 12 months. TdH NL was also assessing its position on ending support to long-term, largescale residential care institutions for children in line with the global call for de-institutionalisation. The rationale for introducing the four cross-cutting issues was not made explicit,¹¹ but early documentation hinted at a need to 1) mainstream approaches commonly acknowledged by donors, 2) to align TdH NL work with international standards and 3) ensure common quality standards across all programmes.

In October 2016, the then Technical Expertise Unit¹² together with the rest of the Programmes team drew up a

¹¹ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2017a ¹²Later renamed as Lobby and Expertise and now the Research, Expertise and Influence team ¹³ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.1 ¹⁴ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.2 ¹⁵ Child Frontiers, 2017

document laying out the first concrete steps to designing the cross-cutting issues framework. This was developed initially as a tool for reviewing partner contracts before renewing then in order 'to make people deliberately think about [the requirements] and make them more specific',¹³ as described by a staff member:

"The first CCI document was introduced first as an additional tool to review the partner contracts. It was a process thing, acknowledging it needed to grow. but it was a starting point."14

Varied information is available about how decisions were made about which crosscutting issues to include in the framework:

1. Minimum Standards of Alternative

Care was a topic of discussion within the organisation, especially the support to residential care facilities that the organisation had partnered with for years. This stemmed from a growing concern about funding long-term shelters. Safeguarding concerns about children in institutional care had been raised and the Standards were used to guide decisions about whether to (dis) continue funding some shelters.¹⁵ It also appears that management needed to find ways to 'cut budget' and found shelters to be costly to run so other forms of alternative care and deinstitutionalisation gained momentum. Given the decision to close shelters

could have safeguarding implications, it was agreed to set minimum standards for alternative care and to carry out a residential care assessment in several projects to assess the quality and potential for care reform.¹⁶

- 2. Child participation was added as it was already considered to be an important part of TdH NL work for which no specific guidance was available. It was assumed that these minimum standards would not be not adding much work.
- 3. **Gender mainstreaming** was promoted by the Girls Advocacy Alliance (GAA) project which required that partner organisations had gender policies and systematically adapted programming to meet the needs of girls.
- 4. **Inclusion of children with disabilities**, followed MOFA-funded programming of TdH NL projects providing health and education support to children with disabilities.¹⁷

Figure 1: Timeline of CCIs and TdH NL strategies



2.2 Aspirations for quality and standardisation

The four topics above were introduced to programmes staff (including Country Managers, thematic Programme Managers and Programme Officers) in an internal guidance note in November 2016. Presented as an 'aspirational'18 working document, guidance explained TdH NL's position and 'the minimum expectations from partners we wish to achieve by the end of 2017'.¹⁹ The stated intention was to drive a normative improvement in quality of programming and promote good practice in addressing child exploitation. Following this the CCIs were included in the proposal format, with the plan to mainstream CCIs across all projects.

¹⁸ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2018

- ¹⁹ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2017a
- ¹⁰ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.1
- ²¹Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.1
- ²² Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2018
- ²³ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2018
 ²⁴ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2017b

¹⁷ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.1, Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.2

¹⁶ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.2

From 2017 onwards, proposals needed to include CCI plans to be approved.²⁰ Country staff and partners asked for more practical guidelines to mainstream the CCIs in all the projects.²¹ The guidance note 'did not prove to be so helpful'²², because:

"It did not provide sufficient clarity...or acknowledge the complexities, processes and resource implications of implementing the issues on the ground in a variety of contexts. It did not provide sufficient practical guidelines and suggestions of how these may be achieved."²³

In response, the 'cross-cutting Issues User-Friendly Guidelines' were developed and shared in September 2017²⁴, and thereafter the CCIs were mentioned in the Fit for the Future Strategy. Each of the four CCIs were considered critical for the successful implementation of the Fit for the Future Theory of Change.

2.3 Faltering progress

In 2018, evident by the comparatively small volume of data available (see comparative volume of data per year on the right-hand side of Figure 2 below), limited traction and some resistance to CCI implementation was acknowledged. Some projects were lagging behind and no cost extensions were being requested. At this point the minimum requirements were incorporated into the dashboard system against which projects were required to report quarterly. The abrupt inclusion of the CCIs into the dashboard transformed the framework from soft nudging into 'a pressure to enforce' minimum requirements.²⁵ The dashboard focused on the achievement of the minimum requirements and lacked a qualitative element. As a result, it was largely considered a 'check the box exercise'.26

Consultation identified that resistance also owed to lack of awareness, need for capacity development and unmet budgetary expectations for CCI implementation. This was especially among small implementing partners without pre-existing policy and practice that was aligned to the CCIs.

Challenging norms around gender and disability were met with resistance, as 'some struggled with understanding the issues and misconception about the 'issue' of feminism, as well as some fear around TdH NL becoming a feminist organisation'.²⁷ Documentation from 2018 outlined:

"Expectations were not realistic to achieve within a limited timeframe, as they require a considerable transformation of some existing ideas, beliefs and attitudes within organisations and communities - which we acknowledge can take years to accomplish.

TdH NL also recognised that the time available for staff and partners to learn about and embrace some of the issues (and specific aspects of each), is also limited - and that additional guidance. support and motivation is required."28

Aspirations for better awareness and skills at implementing practices aligned with the CCIs were captured in a General CCI Framework 2019-2020²⁹, which prompted the establishment of working groups for each CCI with members from across the organisation.³⁰ The working groups participated in drafting position papers and reference documents, and a curriculum and training resources were developed by technical advisors. Training and easy-touse self-assessment alternatives to the

dashboard³¹ were implemented in some countries and within a limited number of programmes from late 2018 onwards, albeit

Figure 2: Volume of data on each CCI available per year (2018-2021)



Although undeniably relevant to practice related to child exploitation, the CCIs were introduced abruptly, were summarily incorporated into a broader strategy that was never successfully implemented and efforts to support practice were not sufficient for overcoming the hurdles encountered. The CCIs were introduced at a tumultuous time in TdH NL history. After

³¹ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2018

without a systematic approach, consistent management support or dedicated resources.



some progress in 2019, the CCIs fell off the agenda at a similar time as disinvestment in the Fit for the Future Strategy. The 2020 COVID 19 pandemic and leadership turnover further contributed to the absence of the cross-cutting themes in the strategic direction proposed in 2021 by the Exposing Hidden Exploitation strategy.

²⁵ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.1

²⁶ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.1

²⁷ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.1

²⁸ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2018

²⁹ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2019b

³⁰ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.2

2.4 Recovering ground

Looking at all mentions in the data of CCIs per year, Figure 2 shows that during 2021, discourse and practices related to CCIs began to recover somewhat. A staff member remarked: 'The country team...didn't really have [CCI] plans in place in 2020, in 2021 plans were a bit more *structured.*^{'32} Overall, and perhaps predictably, positive practices were most frequently linked to child participation, followed by gender mainstreaming (Table 2 below). Alternative care and inclusion were least mentioned.

While some recovery was identifiable, the data clearly showed that the aspirations of the 2016 guidance note were not realised, as summarised by this sentiment from the staff survey:

"[The CCIs] have yet to be fully implemented and integrated into the way all organisations work. It seems to have stalled at the boxticking, minimum standards stage, rather than being fully embraced and adopted."33

Outstanding questions remained about resources and unmet training needs³⁴ and the unintended consequences of introducing minimum requirements.

During the final year included in this review, the Listen Up! Strategy and Theory of Change were developed, launched internally and validated. This new strategy made explicit principles related specifically to child participation, gender and intersectionality. Additionally, goals and objectives are included which embed child participation and gender and intersectionality into strategy. This, in combination with the promising practices detailed in the coming chapter provides an encouraging direction for future approaches.

Table 2: Volume of data on each CCI available per year (2018-2021)



³² Staff survey_2022

³³ Staff survey_2022

³⁴ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.1







To a large extent the minimum requirements of all CCIs were met, and far surpassed by some partners and programmes, however this was inconsistent.

"Some partners found it difficult to integrate it in the design in the beginning, but, as the years went by, they integrated it well in terms of implementation and project design."35

This chapter critically reflects on the progress of each cross-cutting issue, describing emerging practices over five years of implementation, as well as views and experiences of respondents. These are presented as the key themes that emerged along with some discussion from literature review. The chapter closes with the insights gained from reflecting on five years of practice and also outlines the challenges and lessons learned from implementing the crosscutting issues. Important to note is that one of these insights is that the way the cross-cutting issues were introduced and monitored by TdH NL contributes to inconsistent implementation of the CCIs. The report is therefore a critical reflection on the implementation of TdH NL and not of partner organisations.

3.1 Child **Participation Outcomes**

CHAPTER 3

AKING SIOCK

Child participation can be defined as the 'opportunity for children' 36 to freely express their views and to be heard in decisions affecting their lives, in accordance with their evolving capacities.³⁷

³⁵Key Informant Interview_Staff_3.1

³⁶ Children are individuals under the age of 18 (art. 1 UNCRCS). ³⁷ (Secretariat of the Lanzarote Committee, 2019; Special Rapporteur on the sale and sexual exploitation of children, 2012; Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2017b) ³⁸ Staff survey_2022

Terre des Hommes Netherlands | The Place of Intersection

Compared to the other cross-cutting issues, child participation was the one that gained the most traction and received the most positive evaluations in the staff survey. Opinion was that child participation 'got the most attention', was 'most embedded', 'doing great', 'going excellent' and 'more appropriate for child-focused organisations'.³⁸ In the implementation, the activities that were reported clearly show a wide array of opportunities for children to participate and express their opinion. However, there was not much information on how the views of children were used to bring about changes, questioning how impactful and meaningful the participation

was. On the whole, partners succeeded in meeting the minimum requirements in all countries (as summarised in Table 3 below) with many opportunities for children to participate and to express their opinion.

Table 3. Summary of progress on the minimum requirements for child participation 2017-2022

| Minimum Requirement | Pract | ice found in data | Mentions |
|---|------------|---|----------|
| Partners organise at least | ٢ | Partners organised many different sessions throughout the years where children were able to participate in creative ways. | 21 |
| two participatory sessions per year through which children can voice their opinion on the programme activities and express | | The nature of these activities was most often consultative, with limited evidence of their influence. | 71 |
| additional requests or needs | ٢ | Collaborative and child-led child participation activities were less prevalent, though generally preferred by children who participated in this study. | 29 |
| Partner provides continuous | (H) | Staff seemed open to receiving feedback and tried various strategies, including suggestion boxes. | 26 |
| feedback opportunities for children | \bigcirc | There was limited evidence of children providing feedback unless explicitly asked, exemplified in the extremely low rate of safeguarding concerns reported by children. | 3 |
| | | Child-friendly materials were made by all partners. Some good practice examples were found. | 20 |
| Partner uses child-friendly materials to inform children about its goals and activities at the location of the intervention | | Detail on how child-friendly materials were actively used to inform children was lacking. Additionally, understanding of the link between inclusion of children with disabilities and accessible information was not demonstrated. | 7 |

Although the minimum standards were met, it was found that the type and depth of child participation in many cases did not move beyond activities being arranged for children by staff or partners. The nature of child participation activities in the past five years were more often related to one-off events instead of a long-term commitment to meaningful child participation. That said, some partners demonstrated an advanced and long-term commitment to child participation in the project management cycle, advocacy and day-to-day running of their organisations.

Table 4. Child participation practices found in data

| PRACTICE | DI |
|--|----|
| Consultation/feedback sessions | |
| Children's clubs | |
| Awareness-raising and sensitisation | |
| Group sessions with peers or family members | |
| Creative activities (plays, music, poems, dance) | |
| Presence or speaking at events | |
| Children participate in advocacy | |
| Speaking on podcasts, talks or radio shows | |
| Participation in campaigns | |

The following sections discuss the big themes emerging from the data surrounding child participation practice between 2017 and 2022. First, the approaches to child participation will be discussed. Findings indicated that while consultation with children was most frequently mentioned, children preferred collaborative practices. Table 4 summarises the most popular practices associated with child participation, by representing both the number of countries these were tried in (represented in the Distribution column, maximum four countries) and the number of times they were coded (maximum 67 for 'Consultation and feedback sessions with children'). The majority of these practices were identified in all four countries, and many of the activities, speaking opportunities and events discussed were associated with the children's clubs (mentioned 44 times). Furthermore, more than half (58%, n=25) of the children who participated in the research were active members of clubs.



Once established with help from staff, children's rights clubs emerged as the setting for the best child-led activities demonstrated. Children prioritised undertaking activities that engaged the people close to them, like peers, family and others in their immediate communities, in a safe and inclusive way.

Activities were arranged for children, rather than with or by children

Analysis of practice in child participation was informed by theory, notably Hart's Ladder of Participation,³⁹ Wong et al.'s Typology of Youth Participation and Empowerment pyramid⁴⁰ and Lundy Model which conceptualises children's rights to participation as elaborated in article 12 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Children. The model a chronological pathway with four elements, namely space, voice, audience and influence.⁴¹ With reference to these models and the theoretical discourse, this study distilled three approaches to child participation, namely:

- 1. Consultative, where children are asked to take part in activities to share feedback, thoughts or experiences;
- 2. Collaborative, where adults and children work in cooperation. Children play an active role but are not solely responsible;
- 3. Child-led, where children take the lead in planning, developing and carrying out activities, and adults hold a support function.42

Findings indicated that the majority of practices described activities that were arranged for children. In other words, the most common child participation approach was consultation. Fewer descriptions of activities arranged with children (collaboration) and even less by children (child-led) were found. Partners and staff recognised this, as summarised by this staff survey participant:

"Child participation is not consistently practised, activities are often not truly participatory and opportunities for feedback are not continuous but ad **hoc.**⁹⁹43

One explanation for a bias towards reporting on consultative activities might owe to the Minimum Requirements, which 'required only two participatory sessions for child participation, while partners would do way more than that?44 It was felt that the Minimum Requirements, especially in this instance, were not sufficiently ambitious to be meaningful. This led to them being seen as an end goal, rather than a starting point. A staff member stated: 'We feel we could do more, there is a need to brainstorm new... requirements'. 45

Figure 4. Theoretical models of child participation

Wong et al.'s Participation and Empowerment Pyramid

Typology of Youth Participation and Empowerment shaped as a pyramid where shared control is at the top. In the pyramid are ways of participation (Wong et al., 2010)



Hart's Ladder of Participation

The ladder of participation with low to high levels of participation. One to three are considered nonparticipation and four to eight as participation (Hart,1992)



³⁹ Hart's Ladder arranges steps on a ladder. Starting with children being manipulated on the lowest rung, the ladder ascends to children being present and consulted on the middle rungs, and children taking the lead on the highest rungs. Critique of the hierarchical approach of the Ladder, and recognition of the importance of context in determining the most appropriate approach to child participation, informed the development of subsequent frameworks (Hart, 1992)

⁴⁰ Wong et al.'s pyramid conceptualises child participation as distributed on a spectrum of power, ranging from full adult control on one extreme to full youth control on the other. The distinction lies in that with increased empowerment, shared control or adult-youth collaboration forms the apex of the pyramid and thus the goal (Wong et al., 2010) ⁴¹Lundy, 2007

⁴² Guidelines for the Participation of Children in the ICBR's Project Management and Programmes, 2018

⁴³ Staff survey, 2022

⁴⁴ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.1

⁴⁵ Staff survey, 2022

Commonly reported **consultative** practices included asking children for their opinions through creative sessions, children joining meetings, providing suggestion boxes and planning feedback or evaluation sessions. An abundance of evidence was found

indicating that children had a 'space' to share, and opportunity to raise their 'voice' (see Figure 4). In most cases children were engaged as beneficiaries 'rather than [being] actively engaged in co-design from the start'.46

Figure 5. Adaptation of Lundy Model of Child Participation



⁴⁶ Key Informant Interview_Staff_3.1

Terre des Hommes Netherlands | The Place of Intersection

36

It was recognised that 'consultation with children is important...[because] they help in creating [things] that are more effective with children',47 little detail was provided on how the adult 'audience' listened to children. Little emphasis was placed on how child participation had 'influence',48 particularly at national and international levels. That said, practical examples were shared with respect to feedback from children that was acted on by partner organisations at family and institutional levels.

To illustrate a scenario where a child shaped decisions affecting their life, a child staying in a residential care facility in Uganda expressed that 'he did not want to go back home'. He explained to partner staff at Dwelling Places that he would likely be sent back 'to the streets to beg'.49 With the help of several counselling sessions between the mother and child, his wishes were respected. It was agreed that the safest option for him was to be enrolled in a boarding school. Other children in a similar residential care facility influenced things like the menu and decisions around travel planning during the pandemic:

"Children have been involved in feedback sessions. where the feedback given by children has been used to better their systems and services provided in the transition rehabilitation homes."50

⁵³ Key Informant Interview_Expert_5

The examples above demonstrated accountability towards the children who participated in consultative activities. Keeping children informed about what happened with their information and how it is used is important.⁵¹ This is part of having an ethical approach towards child participation by being transparent and providing children with relevant information before, during and after activities.⁵² That said, even the experts noted the challenges involved in putting this into practice:

"The real problem is when [...] promises are broken. When young people are involved in research. they are not involved in analysis and the report is not available for over a year. That is difficult. Often. we do feedback sessions, but it might not be immediately.53

Clarity and honesty thus also seem to be underlying values that are essential to make child participation meaningful. When reporting on child participation, partners were great in describing the activities, but rarely documented how children were engaged before and after the activities. Moving forward, it would be valuable to have this information captured in some way as well. Of course, moving from one-time activities to meaningful child participation where children are kept in the loop requires time and resources. Two things that came out as additional barriers. This requires a lot of commitment and training.

⁴⁷ Key Informant Interview_Partner_3.1

⁴⁸ Lundy, 2007

⁴⁹ Report_2019_4.8

⁵⁰ Key Informant Interview_Staff_4

⁵¹ Delap et al., 2017; JOFA, 2022; OHCHR, 2020, Step Ahead, 2017

⁵² Delap et al., 2017

Children were in favour of collaborative approaches

Some projects and partners were able to move beyond the Minimum Requirements on Child Participation, as observed directly during the data collection and shared by staff, partners and in cross-cutting issues reports. Examples of collaborative processes where children and adults worked together on planning, research, projects, peer education and peer support groups were shared, as illustrated by these quotations:

"During the course, the child/youth representatives developed their own child-friendly modules, methodologies, activities and visuals and demonstrated how they planned to run their respective modules.³⁵⁴

"Children. adolescents and youth...participated in five workshops to review and analyse existing laws related to pornography...in which adolescents and children provided their opinions to address sexual exploitation of children. Participating in the law analysis. children opined that ...the laws should make specific references to children.⁹⁹⁵⁵

Importantly, collaborative approaches need a balance to be struck in the power and control when undertaking 'pluralistic⁵⁶ action. The data revealed how adult staff undertook to use their connections and resources to contribute funding, coordination and organisation⁵⁷ and create opportunities and platforms for children.58 Having the space to participate allowed children to raise their voices and take part in activities that are relevant to them. Some authors recognise that children may not want to do or have the full responsibility over all types of tasks and that some responsibilities are not appropriate for children to shoulder alone.⁵⁹ For example, TdH NL's Core Principles clearly state that children should not be made responsible for stopping child exploitation,⁶⁰ as this may be in conflict with the safeguarding principle of 'best interest of the child'.61

Children in all four countries confirmed these findings and stressed that they valued collaborative approaches. In some countries, children were more aligned than in others, but in comparison to the other two approaches, collaboration was mentioned in all four countries as a good approach to Child Participation. Children viewed collaboration as the best way, because children felt: 'we cannot do everything by ourselves, because we are underage and are still children, so we need an adult to help us and guide us', and 'children may have less experience in life. The issues should be decided on in collaboration with adults'.62

Similar to children, staff, partners and experts recognised the importance of collaborative approaches in the context of child exploitation intervention. When it came to implementing projects, a partner staff member stated that they 'must be involved in every step [from] identification and development of programme to *implementation*⁶³ right '*from the design* phase'.64 These sentiments were shared by staff in other contexts, and the positive influence of children on programming, 'research and studies, implementation and evaluation⁶⁵ was acknowledged:

Figure 6. Participants in Ethiopia sharing their understanding of child participation.



⁵⁷ Yitzhak Cohen & Ben-Arieh, 2021

⁶⁰ See Core Principle 'Children at the centre' (Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2023a

⁶⁵ Staff survey, 2022

"Children are participating in projects, in fact, starting from implementation to evaluation. Throughout the implementation, children have been participating effectively and voicing their concerns. They were even participating in different meetings and also during evaluation. At this time, we have good results on child participation."66

Stanza an Hore nout mc: Ang og him for or is forsat 50 4 ni mi ang i non 14 r nog ogge ni povet 57 ngt nog of the nog of the nit over 57 ngt

⁵⁴ Report_2018_3.7

⁵⁵ Report_2019_1.2

⁵⁶ Wong et al., 2010

⁵⁸ Bruck et al., 2022

⁵⁹ Woodman et al., 2022

⁶¹ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2016

⁶² Children's validation workshop_2023

⁶⁴ Key Informant Interview_Staff_3.1

⁶⁶ Staff interview, 2022

THIS IS HOW IT'S DONE: Child participation at ACD

Association for Community Development (ACD) is a women-founded organisation has included 'young people' on their Board for years. ACD is a partner organisation in Bangladesh that focuses on promoting social justice through developing community care support mechanisms. ACD was an implementing partner on the Girls Advocacy Alliance (GAA) programme. It is located a 45 minute flight from the sprawling capital of Dhaka.

Data were collected at the organisation's headquarters in the city of Rajshahi, on the banks of the Padma River which separates west Bangladesh from India. ACD is involved in a wide range of work, but data collection was facilitated among children who were members of over 40 children's clubs actively engaged in communitylevel prevention of child marriage. Having decades of experience, the practice of child participation at ACD has simply become the way the organisation operates. From before projects even start, children are engaged. This ensures that child participation is baked into project design 'throughout the project cycle⁶⁷ from 'identification, to development of a programme, to implementation'.⁶⁸ Starting children's clubs, for example, begin with workshopping and identification of interested children and other resource persons who might be involved.

"When we develop a proposal, problem or stakeholder analysis...we always first do community consultation or focus groups with children. We need to verify what the children need... to understand what the problem is, what needs to happen, who can take the lead...and we try to take the children's perspectives and encourage them to do some interventions and activities. They know the context, they know how to solve the problems."9

Together group leadership and structure is developed. In some instances the input of ACD is relatively light-touch. For example, having participated in an orientation, children's club members meet and engage independent of staff supervision. Acknowledging children's capabilities to lead peer engagement and advocacy, an ACD staff member remarked: '*They catch* everything easily, you just have to train them *in a proper way*²⁷⁰ Beyond benefiting directly from engaging in activities learning about their rights, how to 'raise their voices' and *'protect their rights'*⁷¹, staff explained how children were able to spread awareness about children's rights:

"Children share the learnings with their families first, then local communities and society circle. The child helps disseminate the learnings so that others can also benefit from the learning."72

Children proudly explained how their clubs meet at a spot of their choosing with just basic materials like mats to sit on and a book for keeping records.

"Every group has a register book, and they write in Bangla. When they start the staff help them with writing minutes, but after 2 or 3 months the children learn the skills and take over."⁷³

Figure 7. Children's club member shares a picture of her club, explaining how they meet in a shady space in her rural community.



⁷² Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.2
⁷³ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1
⁷⁴ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.2
⁷⁵ Report_2019_1.2

⁷⁶ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.2

The clubs are largely child-led, with support available when needed. Staff 'stay in *touch*⁷⁴using mobile phones and sometimes arrange visits to the clubs for children to *'share field-related information'*.⁷⁵ This might happen for example, when the club members identify a girl in their community whose parents are making preparations for an illegal, child marriage. This is sometimes signalled by decoration of the homestead, other times it is kept quiet but difficult to hide from friends and peers. The club members described intervening and stopping these marriages from happening by reporting through a hotline and engaging families and teachers:

"Children in all the clubs try stopping two or three child marriages in a month. The club we observed managed to stop five marriages (existing since 2020)."⁷⁶

Figure 8. A poster from a workshop showing families exchange money in the foreground, while a young girl sits in wedding attire and the police descend having been alerted to the illegal marriage by the children's club.



⁶⁷ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1

⁶⁸ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.2

⁶⁹ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1

⁷⁰ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1

⁷¹ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.2

Periodically, club members take part in advocacy work in collaboration with ACD staff. Together child participation activities were directed at making law and other empowering information more accessible to children and their families. To illustrate, staff supported 'young journalists to do press releases and articles' and have 'their writeups published,' by training them and using their 'connections with local journalists'.77 In 2019, over 100 children worked on reviewing and analysing *'existing laws'* with a link to OCSE, finding that none of the laws had specific provisions for children.⁷⁸ They took action and also proposed to 'insert a paragraph on relation[s] between children and parents' in a Handbook on Safe Internet Use.⁷⁹ On their advice the Handbook was 'reprinted [in 2020] incorporating...different messages for children with cartoons and pictorials...in child-friendly language and contains information on how children can seek remedial measures in case of abuse and exploitation'.⁸⁰ Another example was having children help decide on important information to print on 43 000 leaflets on OCSE.81

In contrast to the bulk of child participation activity encountered during the study, ACD facilitated children opportunities to engage in driving systemic change. The best example of this has been the annual lobby of the Government by children for funding of child protection.

"Every year the local government budget is declared in June...The adolescents, they do the

lobby through various events and submit memoranda on why children need budget on [prevention of] child marriage, child protection... They influence the local government plans."⁸²

ACD created a pathway for children to meet with and 'convince' government stakeholders. This has led to specific reference to 'prevention of child marriage' and budget allocation of up to five million Taka for child protection.⁸³ These budgetary commitments come with implementation and reporting commitments for local governments.

These activities might, in a different context and facilitated by a less mature organisation, be risky-possibly putting children at risk. A staff member pointed out that *'our target group can become* victimised by government officials'.⁸⁴ This highlights the importance of safeguarding. Here, ACD even extends child participation to child safeguarding activities. They have two elected child representatives as part of the child safeguarding team who 'help *make a more enabling environment'* for risk identification and management and to encourage the reporting of violations. As a result of the scaffolding built up by long-standing staff members at ACD and 'change-maker' peer role models for younger children entering programmes, ACD has been able to demonstrate the possibilities and opportunities presented by deep engagement of child participation.

Children's rights clubs were a setting for child-led action

As would be expected, **child-led** activities were least prevalent. That said, impressive demonstrations of child-led initiatives, specifically child-led clubs, were encountered during data collection. Various children's clubs are active in project areas, in both schools and communities. These were often managed by children and supervised by adults.

"JOFA projects in Eastern Uganda (Bugiri and Busia). are considered to be the best practices for child participation as there are often child-led dialogues conducted through the child-friendly accountability approach where the children conduct research with their peers through interactions with different schools and picking the issues that affect the children. Now the children are being supported on how to make follow-ups on the different 'asks' that the children had.²²⁸⁵

The club members were trained on various issues related to child abuse and exploitation. The members pass this information on to peers and create awareness, for example *'with regard to child trafficking and unsafe migration using drama and poems for school communities*.^{'86} There

⁸⁵ Key Informant Interview_Staff_4

⁸⁷ Kev Informant Interview Staff 1.2

⁸⁸ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.2

⁸⁶ Report 2019 2.12

⁸⁹ Report_2019_2.2

⁹¹ Report_2019_4.7

- ⁷⁹ Report_2019_1.2
- ⁸⁰ Report_2019_1.3
- ⁸¹ Report_2019_1.2

were multiple mentions of the child clubs having a very powerful effect on children, such as teaching them new skills. These included organisation skills, facilitation⁸⁷, writing minutes.⁸⁸ They also were felt to have an overall empowering effect, enabling students 'to prevent themselves from trafficking'⁸⁹ and speaking up. These empowering sessions on child protection helped children to raise their concerns and report the incidents of abuse to responsible adults, as well as child protection authorities. Multiple quarterly reports mentioned that awareness, knowledge and even reporting of child abuse cases increased.90

The clubs and groups were able to achieve great outcomes with their activities, such as influencing the school and local government, for example:

"19 children were engaged in a consultative process on the development of a child protection ordinance in Iganga. They shared what made them feel safe or unsafe within their schools and communities. This information will be used to inform the process of development of the child protection ordinance within the district."91

These findings support the notion that children can be change-makers, especially at the community level. Children's clubs

⁹⁰ Report_2019_2.2; Report_2019_2.10; Report_2021_2.6; Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1; Report_2019_2.12;

⁷⁷ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1

⁷⁸ Report_2019_1.2

⁸² Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1

⁸³ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1

⁸⁴ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1

and groups can organise actions to protect themselves from violence but can also give peer support to protect others. Children were found to be best placed to know the situation in their community regarding children's rights, were connected to other children and knew what needed to be done.

Children were focused on engaging at local levels

TdH NL's Listen UP! strategy 2023-2030 is built around three levels that influence the lives of children: the local, national level, and international level.92 The poster created in one of the children's workshops (see Figure 7 below) illustrates that child participation means that children should be part of decisions made at three levels- with family, in the community and society.93 Children emphasised engaging audiences close to home, in the ecological levels in which children engage directly.94 They mostly talked about 'entry-level' forms of participation in the micro and mesosystems⁹⁵ of their families and community. These correspond to the local level emphasised in the strategy of TdH NI .96

Partners and children recognised the power of children engaging collectively on issues facing them in their homes, schools and communities. A partner staff member said:

"In order to make change at the community level we need to engage more with children and youth and engage them as changemakers. Engagement with clubs and groups makes plans and actions to protect themselves from violence but they can also protect others. They can give peer support. They know what to do, they know what is the situation in their community. They are connected with other children."97

Children also valued the role they could play in peer support and education. For example, children in the Ethiopia workshop recognised their role in engaging and mobilising other children in their neighbourhoods and at school, as well as to 'our families and also to other community members'.98

Although this study was not able to dig into the differences in how children engaged based on intersectional factors like gender or ethnicity,⁹⁹ the local focus of children generally was not surprising. Some engagement with local government was referred to, but national and internationallevel engagement were not raised by children who participated in the study. This finding has implications for practice related to engaging child participation in advocacy to drive systemic change.

Figure 9: Three levels of child participation illustrated by children¹⁰⁰

able no. 4 Subject : Child Participation * अहियात, उामाक ७ राखि- प्रविक्रार्थ- किरमुव- प्रारम्धरन भवादि ज्यातमावा विष्ठग्र। विवित्र काला अस्यभ्रह्य कारत कार् क्रिय क्रिय क्रिय क्राह्य प्राविन्द्र अविदा अ व्याह्य क्रिय क्राह एर गहर महा काम बार ए एगाए एर मुक्र में मार हार मार मार नार नार काम काम काम काम काम काम का का का का का का का का स्थम या निरम्स वादाहमा कराए जिसा जाव मातन होत प्रकार कराए, भारता । ल्यामारात्र यमास क्रिव्दी निग्दार धाना मिस कार जाहर द्वार हारा र ر ويح حافيد والعلي - ودورون محد محد المعدية ، معالى المحالي المحالي المحدين

নিজে মতামত পদান रखार (राज्या :

কামাদেনুকে অন্য বিামাদের माथ (धानी दा केवाव অনুমার্ড প্রদান।

Stories were shared about how children had successfully engaged on issues facing children. For example, children from the workshop in Bangladesh had helped girls in their neighbourhood who were being forced to get married illegally.¹⁰¹ In addition to these successes, children also spoke about the difficulties in speaking up. According to respondents, the lack of awareness of children's rights, what child participation is and why it is important, contributed to negative views of child participation at family, school and community levels. A staff member explained: 'In our culture, children are supposed to listen only. Even so-called developed families don't understand the *importance of listening to [children]'*.¹⁰²

¹⁰⁰ Workshop_Children_1

¹⁰⁵ Upadhyay, 2007

- ⁹⁴ Bronfenbrenner, 1986
- ⁹⁵ Bronfenbrenner, 1986
- ⁹⁶ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2023b
- ⁹⁷ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1
- ⁹⁸ Workshop_Children_2
- 99 See Ben-Arieh & Attar-Schwartz, 2013

Jart Aran 270 1 (2)21(2)

In at least one of the workshops children actively expressed how much they enjoyed the novelty of 'joyful learning' methods that engaged their participation, rather than being lectured at in learning settings as they were accustomed to.¹⁰³

Literature on childhood explains how this negativity perceived by children stems, in part, from traditional views of the adult/child relationship.¹⁰⁴ There is a traditional power distribution between adults and children, where adults hold the power and are seen as superior over children.¹⁰⁵ Children are excluded from conversations due to their age, as children are seen as unable to form valid opinions as they are still developing

¹⁰¹ Workshop Children 1

¹⁰² Key Informant Interview_Staff_1.3

¹⁰³ Workshop_Children_1

¹⁰⁴ Bruck et al., 2022

⁹² Terre des Hommes Netherlands. 2023b

⁹³ Workshop_Children_1

into adults.¹⁰⁶ This is called 'adultism'.¹⁰⁷

In the workshops, children indicated that age was an important factor when it came to power. Being below 18 years of age automatically means 'you have less power and protection'.¹⁰⁸ This sentiment emerged from the workshops with children during an activity called the Power Walk. The activity demonstrated that age emerged strongly as a risk factor, leading a child to say: 'Anybody under the age of 18 is in danger, they can face different kinds of problems'.¹⁰⁹

Figure 10: Children's workshop drawing of a bird with clipped wings, a metaphor for children exploited by adults, effectively clipping their wings



Respondents cared about making child participation inclusive

Children, community members, partners and staff emphasised the importance of inclusion. For example, the analysis clearly showed a link between children's participation and inclusion of children with disabilities.

"Anybody, any person, any child with a disability should participate in any activity. For instance, when I am a child with a disability, I should be in Parliament as a chairwoman."10

Respondents emphasised that a diverse group of children is needed to create meaningful children participation. In the quarterly reports, there was only information on sex and the identification of a few children with disabilities, as was asked by the minimum requirements of gender mainstreaming and inclusion of children with disabilities. No other information was found to assess the diversity in the groups of child participation activities. Besides children with disabilities, they mentioned that children with different gender identities, ages, and survivors of child exploitation need to be included. A partner mentioned that the consideration of these different groups of children is important, but that children participation activities also need to accommodate different personalities:

"We also also have girls' and young women's spaces. We decided that some children have different personalities or still fear speaking. We have suggestion boxes, where they can drop anything anonymously."¹¹¹

Activities need to be designed in such a way that they are inclusive for a diverse group of children with diverse needs. The interviewed experts also learned that having a flexible and diverse team of facilitators for child participation activities is important:

"Flexibility is very central. Having more than one facilitator. A mix of different people in that partnership, for instance, someone trained as a social worker, but often if you do something art-based, then you might need a completely different facilitator with different skills. It's important to find a good combination of skills across the facilitation team. It depends on what young people respond well to."¹¹²

¹¹¹ Key Informant Interview_Partner_4.2¹¹² Key Informant Interview_Expert_5

¹¹³ Upadhyay, 2007

¹¹⁴ Brodie et al., 2016

¹¹⁵ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2023b

¹¹⁶ Upadhyay, 2007

¹⁰⁷ Sinclair, 2004; Tao Joiner, 2015

¹⁰⁹ Workshop_Children_2

Context-specific engagement with risk

Being inclusive means that activities are accessible and comfortable for children with varying needs. This can be challenging at times, especially with vulnerable groups. For example when including children that are survivors of child exploitation, literature suggests that they face additional challenges with participating, such as having difficulty speaking out due to stigmatisation after their victimisation,¹¹³ prior negative experiences with services, discrimination, and negative reactions from professionals. The power dynamics between professionals and children can make it very difficult for children to share their thoughts, especially when it might go against the opinion of the professionals.¹¹⁴

Moreover, participation could trigger re-traumatisation due to continuing effects of trauma.¹¹⁵ Participating can be psychologically demanding, especially when it concerns topics that are linked to their own experiences that could re-traumatise children. Making sure that these children are physically and mentally safe is therefore a priority.¹¹⁶ Partners and staff identified the need for child-friendly or trauma-informed practices for child participation to be effective. The data revealed that community stakeholders, staff and partners are trained on the child safeguarding policy to safely work with children. There were no mentions of training children on safety measures.

 $^{^{\}rm 106}$ Morley et al., 2021

¹⁰⁸ Workshop_Children_2

¹¹⁰ Workshop_Children_2

Interviewed experts also mentioned the importance of safety for staff. They mention that *'wrap-around support*⁴¹⁷ needs to be embedded in the organisation to make sure that staff are looked after.

When done in a safe manner, participating in activities has several benefits for children who have been exploited, such as strengthened communication, negotiation and problem-solving skills. Additionally, it promotes resilience¹¹⁸ and confidence to speak up and access information.¹¹⁹ Survivors of child exploitation often faced many Adverse Childhood Experiences and participatory processes where children are heard and their views and wellbeing is prioritised may help children form healthy relationships with adults.¹²⁰ By having a say in matters affecting them, they could regain a feeling of control, decreasing feelings of helplessness and powerlessness.¹²¹

There is thus often a tension between participation and protection. Excluding survivors from participatory opportunities a priori on grounds of risks means that they might miss out on a range of potential positive results.¹²² Safety measures need to be in place to protect children and in particular vulnerable children such as survivors of child exploitation.¹²³ Ensuring that child participation is voluntary, allowing young people to explore their readiness to participate as well as putting in place safeguards to ensure that children are not harmed in the participatory process are some examples of how to avoid retraumatisation and to mitigate risks of participation.124

Children appreciated talking about sensitive topics such as child exploitation

Children emphasised the positive effects of child participation, even when talking about sensitive topics. They indicated that participation creates an opportunity for children to know their rights and responsibilities as it opens their minds to knowing good and bad standards of living. They referred to knowledge as power and felt that participation gave them the opportunity to know their rights and responsibilities. Children suggested that this is what they need for empowerment and development.

"It promotes confidence. We learn about child exploitation and that can be shared with others again. You are further disseminating the information. You can make it known to a child that there are other places to go [besides the big cities]."¹²⁵

This quote illustrates that child participation, specifically on topics such as child exploitation, could have a preventative element to help children make the right choices to protect themselves. In child participation practices of the past five years, it was also found that participation is often used to address child exploitationrelated topics, such as unsafe migration, early marriage, harmful traditional practices, child abuse, gender-based violence, child trafficking and online sexual exploitation of children. Examples of these practices were training youth advocacy groups on these topics, creating child-friendly materials on the matters, training school staff and community, creating school campaigns and peer support groups.

Staff and partners mentioned that child participation should be about topics that children find important. Experts and staff emphasised that it's good to decide the topics, methods and goals of child participation activities with children, as what they deem important and effective might be different than what professionals think.

"Sometimes as adults, we think 'this is the best', but when we consult children, they would give their insights on the best way that is more applicable and practical. We find that when we ask the children, this is really effective."¹²⁶

Figure 11. Children workshop's message to peers about the importance of knowing about child exploitation.



- ¹¹⁸ Bruck et al., 2022; Kasirye et al., 2022
- ¹¹⁹ Terre des Hommes International Federation, 2019
- 120 Hallett et al., 2019
- ¹²¹ Bruck et al., 2022
- ¹²² Bovarnick & Cody, 2021
- ¹²³ JOFA, 2022; Lefevre et al., 2018

Closing observations

Whilst the minimum requirements were generally met, there was criticism that these set the bar too low for the level of child participation envisioned for the future. Listen Up! Strategy's goal of child participation is to ensure 'children are empowered to participate in building and sharing knowledge on child exploitation'.127 Another critique was that the minimum requirements were too similar, not allowing for different and sometimes more meaningful methods of child participation. In the past five years, child participation focussed mostly on getting feedback from children and activities that were not codesigned but arranged for children. Children, however, expressed the need and desire for collaborative approaches. This research has again proven the importance of engaging children in topics that matter to them, as the child participants have taught us important lessons for the future. Other examples are the emphasis on child participation at local levels, such as at home, at school and in the community and that children valued talking about sensitive topics such as child exploitation.

¹¹⁷ Key Informant Interview_Expert_5

¹²⁴ Cody, 2017; OHCHR, 2020

¹²⁵ Workshop_Children_4.2

3.2 Gender **Mainstreaming Outcomes**

Mainstreaming gender is based on the recognition that people have different needs and living conditions, involving unequal access to and control of resources, rewards, opportunities for decision-making, power, money, human rights, and justice.128

This means that depending on the context, programming to prevent or respond to child exploitation should be designed with

recognition that boys, girls and genderdiverse children face different threats, have distinct vulnerabilities and might have differing needs. Gender mainstreaming entails both developing targeted interventions to address gender-related issues and 'integrating attention to relevant gender equality issues as a regular, routine part of policies and programmes in all areas [by] making policies and programmes gender-responsive'.129

Gender mainstreaming emerged as the second most frequently mentioned crosscutting issue after child participation. To a large extent, the minimum requirements were evidenced by practices found in the data.

Table 5. Summary of progress on the minimum requirements for gender mainstreaming 2017-2022



The Context Analysis and

Problem Statement in the proposal to provide data boys/ girls/(sexual minorities where it exists)

Raising gender awareness and equality should be part

of all interventions

Partners to aspire to

undertake a gender-analysis

of their core work and to

develop an approach to

address the main gender-

-

High compliance was evidenced by gender equality efforts such as organising training and dialogue events for gender-awareness, targeting children, community and other stakeholders.

0 0

0 0

¹²⁸ Council of Europe, 2021

¹²⁹ UN Women, 2022

A small number of partner staff attended summits and workshops on gender policy and advocacy.

Context analyses and problem statements provided data and evidence and was included in proposals and discussed in cross-cutting issues reports. In all but one country, discussion on the specific vulnerabilities and child protection needs of transgender children were absent.

Dimensions of gender were generally included in lobby and advocacy messages and issues. However sexual orientation, gender identity, and gender expression were sensitive issues and difficult to raise publically in most

The Philippines was the only country that routinely included training of all staff on sexual orientation, gender identity and expression.

Gender analyses were undertaken and provisions ensuring that the specific needs of different boys and girls were met. Countries aimed to provide services without discrimination, however, this was generally limited to non-discrimination against girls.

Evidence of the range of work undertaken to meet the minimum requirements were established in practice, although the distribution and frequency of these were sparse in comparison to the practice of routinely reporting on the numbers of males and females who participated or awareness-raising about gender-related

topics. Notwithstanding, a number of practices beyond the minimum requirements were identified, as summarised in Table 6 below. Most popular among these was targeting men with activities related to awareness raising on gender-related issues (6 mentions, 50%).

Table 6. Gender-related practices found in data by mention and number of countries mentioning the practice

| PRACTICE | DISTR | RIBUTION | FREQUENCY |
|---|-------|----------|-----------|
| Inviting fathers and males to attend various sessions tackling gender issues | | | |
| Using behavious change communication to respond to gender issues | | | |
| Developing educational GBV materials | | | |
| Counsellors for women and children or a gender and development counsellor | | | |
| Broadcasting information and discussions about GBV through local TV and radio | | | |
| Lobbying for ordinances such as LGBT Code | | | |
| Engaging and advertising association for stereotype-free advertising | | | |

In the next sections, emerging themes of gender mainstreaming practices will be discussed. In general, this study found that implementing gender mainstreaming can be challenging. First, despite many mentions of gender mainstreaming practices, lack of understanding of gender mainstreaming was uncovered. Second, it was found that to reach gender equality, men and boys were still specifically targeted to include in projects and programs, despite the notion that girls are often more disadvantaged due to discriminatory gender norms. Lastly, context-specific barriers were found that make gender a sensitive topic to talk about.

Widespread lack of conceptual clarity and understanding of gender mainstreaming

The relative popularity of gender-related discourse in the data collected obscured failure in widespread understanding and practice of gender mainstreaming. Only one concrete example was found in all the cross-cutting issues reports that illustrated that 'consideration has been made to ensure both boys and girls are receiving specific requirements relevant to their gender

needs^{'130} In this example, children who were in alternative care were provided with sanitary towels or shaving kits depending on their needs.

Among many, the concept of gender mainstreaming was vague, and understanding limited. Participants in workshops and interviews generally defined gender mainstreaming either as 'gender equality' or non-discrimination for girls. Raising gender awareness and striving for equality was mentioned more frequently than any other gender mainstreaming practice. Although this was promoted by the formulation of the Minimum Requirements¹³¹ and remains an irreplaceable part of child exploitation intervention, the promotion of gender equality is different to gender mainstreaming.

Tailoring programme design, policy and practice to meet the needs of children most at risk requires an understanding of potential differences in the victimisation of girls, boys and children of other gender or sex identities and orientations. Gender mainstreaming furthermore requires tailoring approaches to ensure the needs of children most at risk are considered and accommodated.

Inadequacy of Gender Mainstreaming policies was a barrier for gender mainstreaming. One of the reasons for this is the lack of gender policies and expertise. For example, staff in one of the surveyed countries mentioned that they do not have a gender policy.¹³² Similarly, TdH NL does not have an approved gender policy or

dedicated staff to support gender analyses and mainstreaming activities.

Additionally, whilst terms like 'LGBT+ groups¹³³ and 'third gender¹³⁴ were mentioned, albeit rarely and only in some countries, gender-related reporting focused almost exclusively on the binary approach to gender (woman/ man). This despite the fact that gender inequality affects boys, girls and gender diverse children, but generally it disproportionately advantages boys. The Special Rapporteur on the Sale and Sexual Exploitation of Children noted that when it comes to children whose bodies and identities, a strategy focused firmly on the gender binary and simultaneously treating gender and the sex assigned at birth as synonymous may have unintended negative effects.135

Challenging discriminatory gender norms that disadvantage girls

Much of the work described by reporting on gender mainstreaming work was directed at empowering girls and women, challenging their oppression, and ensuring the participation of girls. These practices were mentioned 47 times in the data. Many of these were 'targeted, women specific policies and programmes'.136

Programming that addressed social norms which disempowered girls were relevant to interventions aimed at prevention or responding to child exploitation. They challenged gender stereotypes, which

¹³⁰ Report_2019_4.10

¹³¹ The third minimum requirement for Gender mainstreaming was 'raising gender awareness and equality should be part of all interventions' (Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2017b) ¹³² Key Informant Interview Partner 3.1

¹³³ Report_2019_3.3

¹³⁴ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1

¹³⁵ Special Rapporteur on the sale and sexual exploitation of children, 2012 ¹³⁶ ECOSOC, 1997

represent culturally defined beliefs about men and women internalised through socialisation:

"At the root of many gender inequalities are gender norms that prescribe different status, power and opportunities to girls and boys according to culturally appropriate versions of masculinities and femininities." 137

These 'versions' of men and women and their relative power in relation to exploitation were illustrated by children participating in the study workshops. When asked to represent powerful people, they drew a policeman with a gun, a male 'gang leader' with a stick, a community captain, 'papa' and a muscular figure.¹³⁸ In Bangladesh children drew Joe Biden, saying he had financial and political power. This suggested that they associated power with masculinity, physical strength, money and weapons (sticks and guns).

With enough exposure of children to social cues by the people around them and the media, the way children subconsciously apply labels and traits to gender becomes entrenched, especially in early adolescence.¹⁴¹ Beliefs, such as those associating women and children with weakness and disempowerment, become beliefs. These, in turn, create stereotypes, inform attitudes and generate prejudice. They also feed into gender roles and finally, gender norms.¹⁴²

Fugure 13. Gender norm cycle.

Fugure 12. Illustrations of people and power drawn by children¹³⁹



People with lots of power or 'full batteries'



In contrast, the least powerful people with 'low batteries' were labelled with she/her pronouns ('she is sad', 'she has cancer¹⁴⁰). They associated a lack of power with lack of physical strength or ability, but also with



People with very little power or 'low batteries'



being a child or woman. In addition, a baby, an elderly couple, a person in a hospital bed and people with disabilities were drawn. Children associated 'low batteries' with heightened risk of exploitation.



This cycle and its link to power and violence was summed up by a statement from a community workshop:

Community member 1 "When the girl is born it is considered a burden, while having a boy born is an honour...The girl is not treated in a proper way and it is a kind of violence. It puts a mental pressure on the mother and other girls in the community."

Community member 2 "Yes. Boys are strongly valued as they are seen as able to provide economically for the family, while girls are seen as a burden because of dowry¹⁴³ and not providing economically for the family."¹⁴⁴

Encouragingly, examples from multiple projects described the expanding participation of girls, and increasing exercise of direct and collective agency:

"Comparatively speaking, the level of girls' participation has shown an increase in the reporting period specifically in peer-to-peer sessions. community dialogues and review meetings which is believed to have resulted from the regular advocacy WOrk, 99 145

¹⁴¹ Kågesten et al., 2016

¹⁴² Stewart et al., 2021

¹⁴³ Families pay to have their daughters married to a son from another family, with the understanding that the groom's family will assume responsibility for supporting the bride. 202 Workshop_Community_1 ¹⁴⁴ Workshop_Community_1 145 Report_2021_2.7

¹³⁷ Kågesten et al., 2016

¹³⁸ Workshop_Children_3

¹³⁹ Workshop_Community_1, Workshop_Children_2, Workshop_Children_3, Workshop_Children_4

¹⁴⁰ Workshop Children 3

"She used not to be outspoken, now she can raise her voice towards officials, with her schools and uphold her rights. She is now a rights activist."¹⁴⁶

"Child participation in SheLeads, where girls take centre stage in activities and determine the agendas to front and also feedback is collected to better programs for them. SheLeads is gender infused and integrating gender topics is not a problem because by design it tackled gender discriminating roles." 147

Men and boys were specifically targeted by activities designed to address gender-inequality

The successful implementation of gender mainstreaming acknowledges the 'knowledge, concerns, priorities, experiences, capacities and contributions' of women and gender-diverse people, but also men.¹⁴⁸ Therefore targeting men specifically in work designed to shift patriarchal gender norms was supported. It was acknowledged, however, that implementing programmes to change the 'perceptions and attitude of...the community...requires intensive effort¹⁴⁹ and scaling interventions to break harmful gender stereotypes remains a challenge. **Fugure 14**. Poster from Bangladesh children's workshop defining gender as a social construct.

ubject: Gender

Genders refers to the Characteristics of Women. Men. girols and boys that are socially constructed.





While several gender mainstreaming practices were shared in cross-cutting issues reports (see Table 7), the most frequently mentioned entailed 'consciously inviting fathers and males to attend different sessions that tackle gender issues'.¹⁵⁰ This strategy was folded into interventions in several settings. This was also identified as a promising practice by one of the experts interviewed: "Engaging men and boys on positive masculinity, identifying positive role models, talking with them on gender, their privileges, nudging them towards their insecurities, their roles within the family, the burden mothers/ sisters have and recognise their role in inequalities. These are the small scale innovative pilot programs that we are doing."¹⁵¹

Context-specific cultural, religious and legal barriers to participation for some children

In addition to stereotypes, cultural and religious beliefs were described as barriers to gender mainstreaming efforts. The sensitive topics related to root causes of child exploitation sometimes resulted in resistance from the community, and restrained child participation. As key informants explained:

"Children's involvement depends on their age and the consent of parents. You may want a child of 10 to participate in your activity, but the parents may say, 'No'. Then it is difficult to engage with that child."¹⁵²

¹⁵¹ Key Informant Interview_Expert_6.1

¹⁴⁶ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.2

¹⁴⁹ Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.1

¹⁴⁷ Staff Survey 2022

¹⁴⁸ UN Women, 2022

¹⁵⁰ Report_2019_3.3

"Community people sometimes create problems if the issue is too sensitive... At the community level, there are brokers who try to convince the parents against the [children's] clubs."¹⁵³

The Church and other religious entities were often said to oppose the idea of gender equality and gender mainstreaming, and especially of the inclusion of the LGBTQIA+ community and children:

"A barrier I have encountered is the church. The Catholic church tried to lobby against certain talks and parts of the ordinance."¹⁵⁴

In the many settings where TdH NL works, patriarchal societal norms are embedded in discriminatory legislation. In three of the four countries where the study took place, heteronormative national legislation undermined children's rights. In Ethiopia, sexual and gender diversity is criminalised. Children often lack access to safe spaces and support networks.¹⁵⁵ Sexual-diverse children were vulnerable to mental health problems and social isolation due to discrimination and violence experienced from their families and communities.¹⁵⁶ People are denied access to education, health care and employment based on their gender and sexual identities.¹⁵⁷ Likewise, in Uganda, gender-diverse children are often discriminated against in their communities. In the past few years, there

¹⁵² Key Informant Interview_Partner_4.2

¹⁵³ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1

¹⁵⁴ Key Informant Interview_Likeminded organisation_3

¹⁵⁵ Hughes et al., 2020

¹⁵⁶ Hailemariam et al., 2020

¹⁵⁷ Downie, 2016; Overs, 2015

have been many cases where genderdiverse children's shelters were invaded by the police and residents.¹⁵⁸ In these cases, many children were beaten up and detained as Uganda's government continues to push for the prosecution of LGBTQIA+ people. In Uganda, homosexual sex is punishable by life imprisonment. LGBTQIA+ children in Bangladesh also face similar issues, as same-sex acts are criminalised in the country and non-conforming to binary and heterosexual norms is deemed as 'unsocial activities' in the country's' Penal Code.¹⁵⁹ This anti-gender and sexual diversity sentiment affects children's everyday lives, as they are more likely to suffer discrimination in school and in their communities, leading to higher rates of drop-out and higher risk of being a victim of sexual violence. Although the Philippines is the only country out of the four mentioned here that does not criminalise sexual diversity, gender and sexual diverse children experience many adversities throughout their lives, such as bullying, exclusion and physical and sexual violence.¹⁶⁰ Additionally, they are also at risk of suicide, due to the emotional, psychological and physical abuse they suffer throughout their lives.¹⁶¹ In summary, gender and sexual diverse children face barriers in these countries, such as violence and discrimination, that can hinder their participation in community activities.

Creating safe spaces for mixed groups of children to interact

In some contexts having children's clubs at community level which welcomed mixed groups of 'girls, boys and third-gender children'¹⁶² was seen as a challenge to conservative approaches to child-raising. Mixed-gender children's clubs were sometimes still frowned upon:

"In very conservative communities they don't want boys and girls to mix, they think that they might learn bad things...Parents think that they don't allow girls to talk to boys."163

A partner staff member explained, for example, that as a child her mother didn't allow her to 'mix' with boys.¹⁶⁴ She observed that fewer parents in the cities still held these outdated views, but some parents continue to try to keep girls away from boys until they are married. An anecdote was shared, illustrating this fear among parents. The story was about a girl who became an 'outspoken activist for children's rights'.¹⁶⁵ After being involved in a children's club and other empowerment activities like training and a karate group, she was 'not supported'

58

by her family. Whereas 'in the beginning [she] did not dare sharing with her parents what she was doing in the club' at some point she stopped 'censoring herself'.166 When she was clear with her family that she did not want to get married early, her father was tense...'fearing she was intimate with boys' she met at the children's club.167

The practice of 'not allowing boys to talk to *girls*^{'168} was witnessed firsthand at a public event during data collection. The event was to raise community awareness to 'stopping child marriage' in a rural village. Throughout the speeches and presentations there was almost no interaction between the girls and boys in attendance. Boys in the audience sat separate from girls. Rowdy boys jostled and played to the left of the stage, while the girls sat quietly on the right- both performing stereotypical gender roles.

To challenge gender norms that perpetuate gender inequality, partners in most countries found it was important to 'give space for boys and girls to talk?¹⁶⁹

"If they meet together, boys might realise that when they tease (harass) girls it is not okay, so they can change their behaviour...Changing mindset and behaviour change can reduce violence against girls."170

¹⁶⁶ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.2 ¹⁶⁷ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.2

¹⁶⁸ Kev Informant Interview Partner 1.1

¹⁶⁹ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1 ¹⁷⁰ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1

¹⁷¹ Key Informant Interview_Partner_4.1

Terre des Hommes Netherlands | The Place of Intersection

¹⁷² Kågesten et al., 2016

- ¹⁵⁹ UNDP, 2011
- ¹⁶⁰ UNDP. 2011
- ¹⁶¹ Manalastas, 2013
- ¹⁶² Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1
- ¹⁶³ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1
- ¹⁶⁴ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1
- ¹⁶⁵ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.2

"We have also integrated the boys into the girls groups. When we have these outreaches, we use dramas for example on how it feels to be forced to marry. The explanation of expectation of roles that sometimes lead to torture. What girls are supposed to do and what boys are supposed to do. We flip the roles, the boys do the girl roles and the other way around. And then we ask how that feels. You see that there is learning. That is one of the lessons that we learned."171

A systematic review of literature to understand factors that shape gender attitudes, confirms that puberty is a 'key moment for shaping gender attitudes'.¹⁷² As identified in practice, interpersonal relationships with peers strongly influences gender attitudes and is needed to bring about normative change. Children's groups provided the setting for this, through engagement between children of different genders, but also religions, ethnicities, migration histories and abilities.

¹⁵⁸ Keuroghlian et al., 2021

THIS IS HOW IT'S DONE: Gender mainstreaming at Bidlisiw Foundation Inc.

Bidlisiw Foundation Inc. is an NGO based in Mandaue City, a short flight from the capital of The Philippines, Manilla. Cebu island is a popular tourist spot, almost completely surrounded by coral reefs. It is a place of contrasts. Shiny hotels across the road from informal communities where poverty and criminal gangs impact children who are not lucky enough to be born into powerful families. From here Bidlisiw and its dedicated team of staff and young volunteers operate, with a core team of social workers who have worked together for over 20 years. They are the trusted partners of families and communities to improve quality of life for Filipino children and they are deeply respected by local government officials, Barangay captains and activists alike.

Bidlisiw runs a multitude of programming, including children's rights clubs. These clubs offer safe spaces where children are welcomed regardless of their sexual orientation, gender identity or expression (SOGIE). During data collection activities, both transgender and openly gay children and adults were invited and seamlessly included. This diversity is especially important when working on issues like SEC and SECTT, since gender diverse children are targeted, and their needs must be met by prevention and response programming. The following comment from a child during the children's workshops reflects why girls, boys and gender diverse children might face different challenges and have different needs:

"My understanding about the topic [of child exploitation] is about selling the kids to someone regardless of what their gender is...Also boys are afraid to report, which is kind of disappointing...II think that mostly perpetrators target LGBT."¹⁷³

While much of the focus of the Gender Mainstreaming minimum requirements focussed on ensuring that girls were empowered and accessed TdH NL programming, Bidlisiw offers an example of how gender diversity extends to recognising and including LGBTQIA+ children. **Figure 15:** Gender mainstreaming was said to include LGBTQIA+, not only equality between males and females.¹⁷⁴



It is of course important to consider the context, and the history of LGBTQIA+ rights in the Philippines. Mandaue City might now be referred to as 'the Gay Capital of south Philippines' and hosted the 'Miss Gay International Pageant since the 70s,' but this celebration of diversity is the result of hard-won lobbying. Activists explained that the Philippines is a 'patriarchal society', but indigenous communities predating colonialism had a more accepting and fluid understanding of gender and sexual identities. Women and transwomen were held in high regard...priestesses *manifesting the "divine feminine"*.¹⁷⁵ In these communities, people who would today be identified as LGBTQIA+ were often respected and valued for their unique skills and roles. For instance, some were traditionally spiritual leaders and traditional folk healers.

Through Spanish and subsequent American colonisation and the strong influence of the Catholic church in The Philippines,

discriminatory and heteronormative perspectives on gender and sexuality were introduced.¹⁷⁶ This led to the marginalisation, discrimination and increasing stigmatisation. This experience was described by key informants who recalled being 'taunted' when walking down the street for being *'effeminate.'*¹⁷⁷ It was also explained by children in the workshops, who linked gender diversity with vulnerability.¹⁷⁸

Further, community members described The Philippines as a 'conservative society' where norms support 'male decision-making and dominance'.¹⁷⁹ They described how parents might, 'find it hard to accept [their child's] gender. They [children] are beaten up by his parents because of being gay.'¹⁸⁰

"Children are often mistreated if they are part of LGBT, because for the others this is not totally acceptable."¹⁸¹

Over the past three decades the LGBTQIA+ rights movement in the Philippines emerged in response to this discrimination. In this regard, Bidlisiw were described as 'pioneers' in the 1980s.¹⁸² Together with LGBTQIA+ rights activists and like-minded organisations, they started pushing for greater visibility, equality and acceptance. Some local governments, including in Mandaue City where Bidlisiw is based, have passed anti-discrimination ordinances. A protocol officer in the Mandaue Mayor's Office explained that they 'are now trying to push for an ordinance in the province

¹⁷⁴ Workshop_Children_3

¹⁷⁵ Key Informant Interview_Likeminded organisation_3

¹⁷⁶ Yarcia et al., 2019

¹⁷⁷ Key Informant Interview_Likeminded organisation_3

¹⁷⁸ Workshop_Children_3

¹⁷⁹ Workshop_Community_3

¹⁸⁰ Workshop_Community_3

¹⁸¹ Workshop_Community_3

¹⁸² Key Informant Interview_Likeminded organisation_3

¹⁷³ Workshop_Children_3

of Cebu that covers the smaller cities and communities.¹⁸³ At the national level, a version of the SOGIE Equality Bill has been proposed in Congress.

Public opinion on LGBTQIA+ rights has also shifted, with surveys showing that almost three in four Filipinos support equal rights for the community.¹⁸⁴ This finding conceals a strong difference in opinions of older versus younger generations. Younger Filipinos are significantly more accepting of equality than their elders, as illustrated by children in the workshops.¹⁸⁵

There is still much work to be done to achieve full legal protection and social acceptance for LGBTQIA+ individuals in the Philippines, and to protect children most at risk from exploitation. To illustrate, in the recent 2022 round of the Universal Periodic Review of the Philippines, the proposed SOGIE law was dismissed by the current Department of Justice Secretary as being *"unacceptable" to a predominantly Catholic country.*¹⁸⁶ It is also still not possible for alternative care arrangements to be made with same-sex foster parents.¹⁸⁷

With TdH NL and others, Bidlisiw will continue 'expanding services to LGBTQIA+ kids' including child protection and genderbased violence services.¹⁸⁸ They engage staff and key stakeholders in gender sensitivity training¹⁸⁹ and partner with others working on LGBTQIA+ rights, for example the Gender and Diversity Office at municipal level.¹⁹⁰ They 'make sure to have inclusivity by mentoring and coaching LGBT groups'¹⁹¹ who encourage the appointment of marginalised children into positions of leadership, for example in children's rights clubs. They make these spaces safe and welcoming for children by allowing them to 'wear the uniform that match[es] their gender expression'¹⁹² and 'use the restroom they are comfortable with.'193

¹⁸³ Key Informant Interview_Likeminded organisation_3

- ¹⁸⁴ Greenwood, 2020
- ¹⁸⁵ Workshop_Children_3
- ¹⁸⁶ Report_2023_3.0
- ¹⁸⁷ Key Informant Interview_Partner_3.2
- ¹⁸⁸ Key Informant Interview_Likeminded organisation_3
- ¹⁸⁹ Report_2018-2019_3.4
- ¹⁹⁰ Key Informant Interview_Likeminded organisation_3, Workshop_Children_3
- ¹⁹¹ Key Informant Interview_Partner_3.2, Key Informant Interview_Likeminded organisation_3
- ¹⁹² Key Informant Interview_Likeminded organisation_3
- ¹⁹³ Key Informant Interview_Likeminded organisation_3

Closing observations

The practices of gender mainstreaming reveal that implementation has been challenging. This is firstly due to lack of full understanding of what gender mainstreaming is. Partners showed that they understand gender-related concepts such as gender norms and gender equality, but weren't able to move beyond the empowerment of girls. As discriminatory gender norms continue to exist and girls are still disadvantaged, programming that challenges these social norms are still relevant in the context of preventing or responding to child exploitation. However, there only seems to be a general

3.3 Inclusion of Children with Disabilities Outcomes

Inclusion presupposes that children with disabilities are not excluded and are welcomed to participate and benefit from programming across a continuum of ability. Inclusion means that children lie at the centre.

Children with disabilities are included when they are accepted and recognised as *'people beyond their disabilities*¹⁹⁴ with the right to be protected and meaningfully participate. The findings showed that many people did not understand the concept of inclusion of children with disabilities.

¹⁹⁴ Rimmerman, 2012
¹⁹⁵ Staff survey, 2022
¹⁹⁶ Key Informant Interview_Expert_7

understanding on how gender norms enable exploitation and not the specific mechanisms behind it. A reason for the challenges in implementation of gender mainstreaming could be found in contextspecific cultural, religious, and legal barriers for some children, especially with different gender identities, to participate. This study found varying levels of understanding and acceptance towards the concept of gender that led to different departure points for the implementation of this CCI. It is therefore important that we continue our efforts to increase the understanding of gender, be mindful of the context where our programs take place and create safe spaces for mixed groups of children to interact.

Contrary to popular belief, child protection programming that incorporates inclusion of children with disabilities is not about implementing projects *'centred on children with disabilities*¹⁹⁵ or specifically targeting children with disabilities. As explained by an expert key informant:

"The most important thing to remember is that children with disabilities are still children, just like any other child. You should not make a fuss about that one thing (the disability), it does not define them. CwD have personalities, interests, loving families, aspirations just like all other children have. CwD are children. All children are different. All children have their own set of needs and abilities."¹⁹⁶ Figure 16. From exclusion to inclusion¹⁹⁷

EXCLUSION



INTEGRATION



Although there was no evidence of children being deliberately excluded from programming, segregation (through referral to other organisations or services) and in some cases integration of children with disabilities (into parallel services), were



INCLUSION

SEGREGATION

more evident than inclusion (see Figure 11). Inclusion of children with disabilities appeared to be the least integrated crosscutting issue with the fewest mentions in the data.

Table 7. Summary of progress on the minimum requirements for inclusion of children with
 disabilities 2017-2022

| Minimum Requirement | Pract | ice foun |
|---|---------------------|--|
| The partner is aware of children with disabilities in the community, as proven by the context analyses (and problem statement) in the partner proposal. | | Disability v countries, a good awa disabilities to child exp included in prevention most settir clinically di identified. |
| Partners strive to ensure that activities/ services are equally accessible to children with disabilities wherever possible, without it becoming an expensive and time-consuming exercise. | (<mark>-2</mark>) | Children w remained e and respor efforts wer connect ch disability-r meet medi needs rath practical e the needs were accor inclusion. |
| Partner establishes relationships with organisations working with children (and parents of children) | | Partnershij four counti advocacy a referral. |
| with disabilities in their geographical area, in order to ensure an active referral mechanism is in place, which includes referral and follow-up. | (L) | Overall, ch more likely included in |
| Partner reviews existing Child Protection and Safeguarding Policy to consider inclusion of issues related to children and people | | All partners policies to inclusion o That said, l or impleme |

with disabilities in line

with International Child Safeguarding Standards.



¹⁹⁷ Model adapted from UN Geneva, 2021

Some staff shared that including children with disabilities *'has been a struggle*¹⁹⁸, *'was not really relevant*¹⁹⁹ in a project context and 'not well understood'²⁰⁰. In contrast, there were some positive examples of where inclusion was *'well advanced*²⁰¹ and *'going well*²⁰². Additionally the cross-cutting issues reports and children's workshop provided some hopeful signs that providing reasonable accommodations and some extra support to children with disabilities did enable their participation in programming and the data collection. Table 9 summarises some activities and practices partners tried in order to extend programming to children with disabilities (practice column), how often these were mentioned (frequency column) and in how many countries these practices were found (distribution column). The most popular practices related to disability and inclusive practice found in data was to partner with disability organisations (41 mentions, 29%), referral to other organisations (15 mentions, 11%) or mentions about including certain children in activities or services (14 mentions, 10%). Half of the practices were found in three countries or more.

Table 8. Practices related to disability and inclusive practices found in data by mention and number of countries mentioning the practice.

| PRACTICE | DISTRIBUTION | FREQUENCY |
|--|--------------|-----------|
| Partnering with disability organisations | | |
| Referral to other organisations | | |
| Raising awareness about disability and child protection | | |
| Referral for disability-specific services | | |
| Advocacy | | |
| Covering disability-related costs (medical, assistive devices) | | |

PRACTICE

Inclusion in programme activities/services Recruiting children with disabilities Addressing discriminatory attitudes/barriers to inclusion Supporting families to deal with disability-related stigma Providing PSS/mental health services Providing assistance or support based on individual needs Asking children with disabilities for their opinions on child protection issues Collecting disability-disaggregated data Using peer education Ensuring physical accessibility of buildings Updating policies to be inclusive Training on inclusion Providing interpretation when needed Easy-to-read, accessible, child-friendly document formats Inclusive, non-discriminatory language Creating warm, welcoming and safe child-friendly spaces

The big themes of inclusion of children with disabilities practices between 2017 and 2022 that emerged from the data will be discussed in the next paragraphs. The first theme is that most often, practices were found where children with disabilities were referred to other organisations, instead of including them in our own organisation. This is in contrast with how important respondents find inclusion of children with disabilities. The latter will therefore be discussed as a second theme. Lastly, it was observed that when reporting on and talking about disabilities, mainly physical or observable disabilities were mentioned whereas there is a wide spectrum of ability. This narrow view on disability obstructs inclusion and is therefore discussed as a third theme.



Outsourcing disability services (segregation) was favoured over inclusion

When comparing the frequency with which various practices were mentioned, building relationships or partnerships with disabilityrelated organisations (41 mentions) and referral of children with disabilities to other organisations (20 mentions) outnumbered mentions of including children in activities and services (14 mentions) sixfold.

Placing children with disabilities in a residential facility or providing disabilityspecific services as a standalone programme is, however, not inclusion. Rather, inclusive practice is designing and

¹⁹⁸ Staff survey, 2022

¹⁹⁹ Staff survey, 2022

 $^{^{\}scriptscriptstyle 200}$ Staff survey, 2022

 $^{^{\}scriptscriptstyle 201}$ Staff survey, 2022

²⁰² Staff survey, 2022

running programming that accommodates a broad spectrum of needs. A staff member noted that 'during the design consultations, children with disabilities were given less attention that leads to our projects not responding to their specific needs.'203 Skill is required to facilitate this meaningful and inclusive child participation.

Partnerships emerged overwhelmingly as an area where partner organisations in all countries made strides. Whilst positive, the lack of inclusive practice and gaps in understanding of the concept of inclusive practice indicated further work is required to ensure all children at risk have access to prevention and response programming. In the staff survey, a staff member indicated that they were unsure what to do with this cross-cutting issue: '[Should we] improve our own capacity or only improve our network of specialists?'.204

Another reason could be that partner staff felt ill equipped to work with children with disabilities, feeling they lacked specific expertise.

"Partners or projects are struggling due to the complicated nature of different disabilities which may be a challenge for the projects or partners to address."205

"Organisations have made an effort to ensure inclusion. Since they do not have direct support offered, they mostly do referrals.³²⁰⁶

"We are not experts in this topic and neither do we have experts. But there are strong disability-focused organisations that we can partner with."207

There is a huge variety of types of disabilities and severity of impairment, making children with disabilities a complex and heterogeneous group with a wide range of needs.

The sentiment that the child protection needs of children with disabilities cannot be met without specialised skills is not limited to the sector or settings where TdH NL works. The needs of children with disabilities globally are often not accommodated by most services and systems:

"Data show that people with disabilities in low- and middle-income countries are poorer than their nondisabled peers in terms of access to education. healthcare. employment, income, justice, social support and civic involvement. and are more likely to experience multiple deprivations. They encounter inaccessible transport. infrastructure and digital technology."208

An illustration of this is captured in a study undertaken among 568 children with multiple disabilities in rural Bangladesh. All of them needed health and rehabilitation

services, yet 80 per cent had no access to healthcare whatsoever. Of the 20 per cent who did access services, all were assisted by NGOs rather than government clinics or hospitals.²⁰⁹

Without inclusive services that support families, many are unable to care for their children with disabilities at home.²¹⁰ These additional support needs require 'costs' and budget to address different kinds of disability...[The partners] have to learn how to adjust their programming and activities to different kinds of disabilities. Help [is needed for] the partners to adjust, to what the dynamics are?211

Respondents stress the importance of including children with disabilities due to high risk of exploitation and discrimination

Inclusion of children with disabilities appeared to be challenging for partners to implement, yet it was deemed highly important and prioritised by children and

Figure 17. Inclusion as described by children²¹³





²⁰⁹ Nuri et al., 2018, p. 2

²¹⁰ Kelly et al., 2016, p. 36

²¹¹ Key Informant Interview_Staff_3.1

²¹² Workshop_Children_2, Workshop_Children_4.2, Workshop_Children_4.1

²¹³ Workshop_Children_1, Workshop_Children_3

community members. In the workshops with children and community members, vulnerability of children with disabilities was often mentioned. In three workshops²¹², for instance, children were asked to come up with an imaginary friend at risk of exploitation. Out of nine characters, eight had a disability. This possibly indicated that children perceived that having a disability had a diminishing effect on power and was key risk factors for child exploitation. Figure 12 below, includes messages about inclusion from one of the characters, Tina:

"Inclusion is giving people the right to participate. Inclusion is important because it is important to make someone feel included and welcomed because some people might feel left out and lonely. For me we should include them because they are not different from us. they are also human. It is important to make people feel included- not only disable people but everyone."



²⁰³ Staff survey, 2022

²⁰⁴ Staff survey, 2022

²⁰⁵ Staff survey, 2022

²⁰⁶ Staff survey, 2022

²⁰⁷ Staff survey, 2022 ²⁰⁸ Rohwerder, 2015, p. 1

In all workshops, children underlined that children with disabilities usually have 'low battery', meaning that they are disempowered, highly vulnerable and they need support and protection. Children indicated that children with disabilities 'are often not helped',²¹⁴ or when they have family, 'they do not give him attention'.²¹⁵ In another workshop, participants expressed that children with disabilities will be told 'we cannot play with you²¹⁶ and were excluded from activities. A disability could even lead to less chances of finding love. In another workshop, the children described the scenario of a 'boy with one hand':

"If I go: 'I love you', they will say: 'Well no, because you only have one arm.' They will leave you there."²¹⁷

The lack of independence was perceived by children and community members as being burdensome, particularly on the family.²¹⁸

"Children with disabilities are not considered in any way. Children with disabilities are not considered as human beings. They are referred to as, when you have a child with a disability, you are always cursed."²¹⁹

"Society prescribes a kind of shame. If I have a child with a disability, I will feel shame."220

"There are some myths existing among parents, that they should not let children go to school, not let children [with disabilities] play with their friends. Sometimes the family is cursed, they think. Others say these families are cursed. These are some myths."²²¹

These quotes illustrate that children with disabilities are dehumanised and discriminated against due to these widespread stigmatising beliefs. Community members in the workshops highlighted this problem as well and described that children with disabilities 'are often outcast'²²², are 'left alone²²³, 'are being neglected in any social gatherings²²⁴ and 'do not get enough access to use educational tools'.²²⁵

Children, staff and partners also identified the importance of using the right

terminology. Children with disabilities were called different words, such as 'lame' 226, 'differently abled' 227, 'physically challenged' or 'special child' 228. In one of the countries, the children in the workshops spoke from experience that people *'will use language like he is not normal'*²²⁹ and they stressed the need to 'keep to use the right language when talking about them?230 What language is appropriate can be complicated, as what is preferred 'varies across people and *attitudes*²³¹, making it person and context dependent. In Ethiopia, for instance, staff and partners explained that 'most of the time, there are bad words [for disability] in Amharic' ²³² words that are considered as 'offensive'.233

The participants of the children's and community workshops proved to be highly supportive of inclusion. They agreed that the discrimination and exclusion described above are not right and stated that children with disabilities are equal to other children and should be treated with respect.²³⁴ The children came with various suggestions to improve inclusion such as providing additional personal assistance, inclusion in every activity, showing them love, affection and respect, giving emotional support and addressing discriminatory attitudes.

- ²²⁰ Key Informant Interview_Staff_1.1
- ²²¹Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.1
- ²²² Workshop_Community_3
- ²²³ Workshop_Community_1
- ²²⁴ Workshop_Community_1

²²⁶ Workshop_Children_4.2

²²⁷ Workshop_Community_1 ²²⁸ Workshop_Children_1

²²⁹ Workshop_Children_4.2

²³⁰ Workshop Children 4.1

²³¹ Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.2

²³² Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.1

²³³ Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.2

Figure 18. Children's workshop drawing where children stressed the importance of children with disabilities living a normal life such as other children, being able to go to church, school, have friends and play with others.



²³⁴ Workshop_Children_4.2, Workshop_Community_4, Workshop_Children_2

²¹⁴ Workshop_Children_4.2

²¹⁵ Workshop_Children_2

²¹⁶ Workshop_Children_2

²¹⁷ Workshop_Children_4.2

 $^{^{\}it 218} Workshop_Children_4.1, Workshop_Children_4.2, Workshop_Children_3, Workshop_Children_2$

²¹⁹ Report_2019_4.1

²²⁵ Workshop_Community_1
Multiple cross-cutting issues reports mentioned that they made efforts to deal with the stigma surrounding children with disabilities, by spreading awareness and talking to parents and community members. Interviews with partners and staff highlighted the same importance of constructively working on addressing attitudes about disability.

"Communities are still learning to be inclusive about gender, disabilities and children with other identifications. It is key to focus more on the practice, belief. mindset aspects."235

There were two mentions of a partner providing materials to children with disabilities so they could stay in school or covering disability-related costs. An interviewed expert underlined the importance of family support:

"Families with a disabled member are often amongst the poorest. as they have extra expenses, may not be able to work because of the extra caring responsibilities and may be stigmatised in accessing support."236

Family was recognised as a vital stakeholder by various respondents (partners, staff, experts and children), since they can serve as a protective factor against child exploitation for children with disabilities. As one of the children said:

"You should talk to the parents and say that they also need love. Everyone is a **berson.**⁹⁹237

"To have them Ichildren with disabilities] engaged fully with their peers and the community also is very challenging. We have to work to break that barrier. [...] If we are going to work at family level first, it will be easier to incorporate those children with their friends and the wider community."238

Families also play an important role in the participation of children with disabilities in society and activities.

"Parents may limit the child's potential if they do not understand that they need inclusivity. Some children with disabilities are unschooled because children hurt other children, have aggressive behaviour and fears."239

In an interview, a partner explained that they had a child with disabilities who was hidden and was not allowed to participate in activities. In the following quote, the partner explained how they managed to convince the parents that their child should participate:

"We set up the venue for the activity opposite to where the child lived and requested the family again, saying that the venue was very near the compounds and that he would only need to cross to the next homestead. This time the father agreed but kept looking across the fence to see what we were doing. [...] The parent was amazed and saw his child in a different light."240

This quote illustrates how the partner put in effort to make sure that children with disabilities are included despite all the barriers that existed. Looking at the data, the goodwill of staff might be an important nuance to mention alongside the difficulties to include children with disabilities. For example, of the 43 children who participated in the children's workshops, 6 (13%) had a disability.²⁴¹ In these workshops, staff and peers seamlessly accommodated various needs, indicating that staff know very well how to work with children with disabilities without singling them out. In interviews, an overall inclusive and supportive attitude of children with disabilities was observed among partners and staff. These examples illustrate that not all practices that are important to evaluate the implementation of inclusion of children with disabilities are reported, but they were observed.

²⁴² Staff survey, 2022

²³⁵ Key Informant Interview Partner 3.2 ²³⁶ Key Informant Interview_Expert_7

²³⁸ Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.1

²³⁹ Key Informant Interview_Partner_3.2

²³⁷ Workshop_Children_4.2

Inclusive programming was compromised by a narrow view of disability

With regards to recruiting and including children with disabilities in programme activities, the cross-cutting issues reports show that there are often only a few children with disabilities included in activities. Staff members also made this observation and noted *'there is always only a very small* percentage of children included that have some form of a disability'.242 A reason for this low number could be that children with disabilities are often hidden or excluded from society. Another possibility is that staff have a narrow view of disability and only count children with severe and very obvious forms of disability. While examples of children with physical disabilities and a few with sensory disabilities like hearing loss were referred to, the wider spectrum of disability was not acknowledged. In fact, children with disabilities may have a lot of *difficulty or cannot do one* or several of the following things:

- See (even when wearing glasses or contact lenses);
- Hear sounds like people's voices or music (even when using a hearing aid);
- Walk or climb stairs (without assistance or equipment);
- · Self-care activities like feeding or dressing themselves;
- Be understood when they speak by outside their households;

²⁴⁰ Key Informant Interview_Partner_4.1 ²⁴¹Functional difficulties that children had were with mobility, concentrating, learning, understanding and communicating.

- Learn things (when compared with children their age);
- Remember things (when compared with children their age);
- Concentrate on an activity that they enjoy doing;
- Accept changes in their routine; control their behaviour (when compared with children their age); and/or make friends;
- Children with mental health conditions often or daily feel very anxious, nervous or worried; and/or very sad or depressed.243

Furthermore, children may have other chronic health conditions that require support or accommodations to make participation accessible to them.

Data from the workshops with children and community members and interviews with experts reinforced literature that describes 'children with disabilities are amongst the most marginalised and discriminated against children in the world'.244 A trove of research describes how disability exacerbates vulnerability and why 'children with disabilities in all settings should be viewed as a high-risk group' for experiencing violence and abuse.²⁴⁵ However, interviewed respondents indicated that it is difficult to find children with disabilities to include. Many are 'not officially registered as having

disabilities; they are underdiagnosed²⁴⁶ or 'hidden'.247 The hiding of children with disabilities was often mentioned by different respondents. Sometimes, children with disabilities were not even counted as children:

"When people come and they ask, 'How many children do you have?' They say: 'I think I have five and then we have the other one who is lame', as if it is not one of the children.⁹⁹248

"They forget sometimes. They have to be reminded that that one is also their child sometimes.³²⁴⁹

Another staff member noted that they felt inclusion of children with disabilities is not well understood, as partners often report that 'there were no children with disabilities in this guarter'.²⁵⁰ This might point to a lack of understanding for the wide spectrum of disabilities. Collected data on types of disabilities of children in programmes showed that the far majority of disabilities that were reported on were children with physical disabilities. Less visible or invisible disabilities were hardly present in the data.

****39 children with disabilities** (22 girls and 17 boys) are visible in the quarter beneficiary lists. 26 were physically disabled and 6 of them were with minor mental illnesses, 2 vision problems and 5 were with mild hearing impairments."251

Figure 19. Children's workshop avatars with disabilities



²⁴³ Adapted from Washington Group/UNICEF Module on Child Functioning, age five to 17, 2022, pg. 1-3

- ²⁴⁴ Rohwerder, 2015
- ²⁴⁵ L. Jones et al., 2012

- ²⁴⁷ Key Informant Interview_Partner
- ²⁴⁸ Workshop_Children_4.2
- ²⁴⁹ Workshop_Community_4

A respondent from the staff survey indicates that 'better screening for mild disabilities among existing beneficiaries²⁵² is needed. This might increase the number of identified children with disabilities. As we can see in Table 11, the children often chose to draw avatars with a physical disability (n= 6) over a mental impairment (n= 2). Child participants in one workshop indicated that one of the main takeaways of the workshops was that there are also invisible disabilities.253







²⁴⁶ Key Informant Interview_Partner_3.2



The narrow view on disability works through in other activities, such as ensuring access. The data present mostly mentions about ensuring physical accessibility, only a few mentions of providing additional assistance with interpretation and no other types of access. Since multiple guarterly reports of

four partners were analysed, this indicates that these activities were not done by all partners in every quarter. It could however be that accessibility was already ensured without any additional services.

THIS IS HOW IT'S DONE: Inclusion of children with disabilities by ANPPCAN-Ethiopia

African Network for the Prevention and Protection Against Child Abuse and Neglect (ANPPCAN) is a partner organisation in Ethiopia that focuses on child protection and various topics such as the rehabilitation and reintegration of children in difficult circumstances, education, positive parenting, livelihood and empowerment. With TdH-NL, they implemented GAA and the Paths to Safer Childhood project. During the research period, the organisation deliberately made *'safe and responsible efforts'* to prioritise children with disabilities, protecting them and successfully including them in services and programming.²⁵⁴

Staff were interviewed in their project office in North Gondar, a city in the Amhara region of Ethiopia, and used to be the home of the Ethiopian emperors. In the interview, staff showed great awareness of the importance of focusing on children with disabilities and stressed the need to move beyond the minimum requirements in order to achieve inclusion:

"We need to think beyond [minimum requirements]. As community practitioners, we can do so many activities for meaningful participation and include children with disabilities."²⁵⁵

²⁵⁴ Report_2020_2.13
 ²⁵⁵ Key Informant Interview_Partner
 ²⁵⁶ Report_2019_2.10

The same notion was found in the CCI reports, early in 2019 during the GAA project. ANPPCAN already recognised that including children with disabilities in their activities *'should be the regular way'*.²⁵⁶ This resulted in ANPPCAN reporting on the **inclusion of almost 900 children** with disabilities during the study period- almost **ten times** the number reported on by other partner organisations.

This great number was undoubtedly achieved by the observed prioritisation of children with disabilities within ANPPCAN. In the interviews, staff often mentioned children with disabilities in the same breath as child participation. Moreover, staff repeatedly showed how inclusion should be ingrained in our thinking in every aspect of our lives:

"Even when you build a house and other facilities, we need to take the issue of disability into account. In our context, we may let them participate in everything if we improve our thinking, if we improve our awareness towards disability."²⁵⁷

Having children with disabilities top of mind resulted in extended opportunities for children with disabilities to participate in children's clubs and training programmes. In this way, children with disabilities were not only referred to other organisations that may have more expertise on disabilityspecific service provision, but active efforts were made to make sure that children with disabilities were engaged in the activities of ANPPCAN. This demonstrated an inclusive approach rather than segregation.

An example of such efforts is the introduction of a *'quota system'* to **reserve and secure places for children with disabilities** on training courses.²⁵⁸ In an awareness-raising campaign, ANPPCAN reported the following:

"Three children with disabilities participated during a video show. This video show was organised to bring awareness to children on the effects of unsafe migration. In this show, children with disabilities

found in the target schools were given priority to participate."259

After each project, ANPPCAN checked the list of children who participated to make sure that enough children with disabilities were included.²⁶⁰ They also used their own insights to promote inclusion among other organisations, by communicating to stakeholders *'beneficiary selection criteria'* that included children with disabilities. This led to 17 children receiving services in a single project.²⁶¹ These measures show that ANPPCAN made it an explicit priority to have children with disabilities participate in all they do.

Besides participation, ANPPCAN showed great awareness of disabilities in general. Disaggregated numbers were not required in the minimum requirements, however ANPPCAN gave comprehensive reporting on children with disabilities included, disaggregated by sex and sometimes also by type of impairment. This was a great first step to understand the diversity of the group. ANPPCAN also showed that they were able to support this diverse group with specific needs.

Whilst child protection organisations often cite a lack of understanding of disability as a reason, they hesitate to include children with disabilities, ANPPCAN built understanding by deliberately recording what kinds of disabilities were prevalent and what the needs were of children enrolled in their programming. When the concern of other organisations was raised during the interview, ANPPCAN agreed that a lack of knowledge and hesitation exists among duty bearers, often because of *'high turnover*^{'.262} Therefore, the duty bearers turn to ANPPCAN as *'they feel like we are better than them in the perception, knowledge and skills for children with these challenges*^{'.263} On duty bearer level, ANPPCAN was therefore recognised as a capable and knowledgeable partner on inclusion. When asked if they feel they have enough resources to provide training on children with disabilities, they said:

"The first and most serious thing is commitment. If we are committed and devoted to supporting them [children with disabilities], nothing will stop us.³²⁶⁴

In this way the staff of ANPPCAN demonstrated the importance of the mindset and attitudes of staff in believing that inclusion is important, but also possible and achievable:

"To really get organisationwide change (on inclusion) you have to demonstrate it yourself, put champions in place, and it is very helpful to have staff with a personal conviction and understanding of the importance of making something inclusive. It often starts with an individual that is particularly motivated...

Good practice of inclusion of children with disabilities is mainly about people's

²⁶⁷ Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.1

attitudes. If they are positive, welcoming, this is the best. If they expect a lot of children rather than assuming they can't do things, assume that they can, be flexible and adaptable, and be accepting of what they are able to do. [Staff] will need to adjust the way they work a bit, like realising that not all children go to school and some might have no literacy training. You might need to use visual aids instead of giving them things to read.

Inclusion of children with disabilities asks people to throw away their assumptions and to see every child as a child."".²⁶⁵

This commitment is necessary, as in the interview, staff emphasised the difficulty of the stigma surrounding having a child with a disability. They mentioned that there are *'myths*²⁶⁶, such as that *'families are cursed*²⁶⁷ which leads to parents excluding their child with a disability from playing with their friends and going to school.

"Parents, if they have a child with a disability, they will hide it rather than try to sort out the problem. To have them engaged fully with their peers and the community is also very challenging. We have to work to break that barrier."²⁶⁸

²⁶³ Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.1

²⁶⁴ Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.1

²⁶⁵ Key Informant Interview_Expert_7

²⁶⁶ Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.1

²⁶⁸ Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.1

²⁵⁷ Key Informant Interview_Partner

²⁵⁸ Report_2019_2.11

²⁵⁹ Report_2019_2.10

²⁶⁰ Report_2019_2.1

²⁶¹ Report_2019_2.4

The CCI reports confirmed the commitment of ANPPCAN, as they continuously took active steps to address these attitudes at various levels, using awareness-raising, training and creating spaces for children with disabilities to represent their views. At family level, they actively reached out to households to *'break barriers'*.²⁶⁹ At community level, they *'enhance the awareness of the community members [...] using training, dialogues and campaigns*.²⁷⁰ Lastly, ANPPCAN targeted the local government, training 52 people to build their capacity to *'effectively implement policies and proclamations related to disabilities'*.²⁷¹ The efforts undertaken by ANPPCAN led to many wonderful outcomes that clearly aided the empowerment of children with disabilities. For example, ANPPCAN has been successful in including children with disabilities in the school club leadership.²⁷² Additionally, two children with disabilities became members of the child parliament committee at Gondar City Administration. This was the first time this ever happened.²⁷³ Through the continuous awareness and prioritisation of children with disabilities, ANPPCAN Ethiopia shows that it is possible to break barriers and seamlessly integrate children with disabilities in activities.

Closing observations

In comparison to the other cross-cutting issues, inclusion of children with disabilities seems to be difficult to implement. The difficulties largely stem from an overall lack of attention to and awareness of disability in general. There are cultural and social beliefs surrounding disability that make it difficult for children with disabilities to participate in society and therefore also in TdH NL activities. Partners do their best to identify children with disabilities, but report that this is often difficult. The goal for our programs needs to be that it would be accommodating for diverse needs of all kinds, of which ability is a very important factor. Broadening the focus from solely physical disabilities to also more less visible disabilities could help in widening our reach and enrich our programming. In the past five years, the activities for children with disabilities remained largely on a level of a very low number of children with disabilities participating in our programs, focussing on physical disabilities and referring children to partners that seem to be better equipped to do justice to the needs of children with disabilities.

3.4 Minimum Standards of Alternative Care Outcomes

Children who are not under the custodial care of their parents are considered to be in some form of formal or informal alternative care.²⁷⁴ The Global Guidelines for the Alternative Care of Children, adopted by the United Nations in 2009, provide the most comprehensive, globally agreed guidance on children's care.²⁷⁵

Since 2017, the TdH NL minimum requirements focused specifically on promoting safe and quality residential care in projects that included shelters for children, with little emphasis on other forms of alternative care (for example foster or kinship care). This emphasis was informed by literature that demonstrates how entering or continuing in alternative care is common among children who have experienced exploitation.²⁷⁶ Additionally, in 2017 a residential care assessment was undertaken by TdH NL.²⁷⁷ It was recognised that children, specifically children with

274 UNGA, 2010a

²⁷⁵ UNGA, 2010a

²⁷⁶ Child Frontiers, 2017; Cody, 2013

²⁷⁷ Child Frontiers, 2017

278 (UNESCO, 2014), UNCRC Art 6(2)

²⁷⁹ Workshop_Community_3

the traumatic history of exploitation, have specific needs of alternative care, yet are able to achieve positive outcomes.²⁷⁸

Figure 20. Alternative care as summarised by children²⁷⁹



When looking at all the mentions of the practices in the data, minimum standards of alternative care was mentioned less often than gender mainstreaming, and considerably less than child participation. However, despite residential alternative care not being part of all projects, they were mentioned more often than inclusion of children with disabilities (see the summary in Table 12 below). Where partners or projects included alternative care, the Minimum Standards were generally met. Generally, however, residential care was found to be expensive and a difficult service to provide safely and with quality.

²⁶⁹ Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.1

²⁷⁰ Report_2019_2.10

²⁷¹ Report_2020_2.13

²⁷² Report_2019_2.11

²⁷³ Report_2019_2.12

 Table 9.
 Summary of progress on the minimum standards of alternative care 2017-2022
 disabilities

| Minimum Requirement | Practice found in data | | N. of Mentions |
|---|------------------------|---|-------------------|
| The residential facility abides by national minimum requirements/ standards for residential and alternative care. | ٢ | All projects that included residential alternative care for children reported compliance with applicable national minimum standards. In some settings this was verified by monitoring visits from government inspectors. | 19 |
| | | Child safeguarding policies were infrequently mentioned but were implemented to ensure safety and wellbeing of children in alternative care. | 4 |
| The residential facility actively implements gatekeeping mechanisms. | (L) | Overall, gatekeeping mechanisms that keep children out of residential care and favour family- or community-based alternative care arrangements were rarely mentioned explicitly. | 1 |
| | \bigcirc | Case management was described including family tracing, admissions and exit planning, resettlement/reunification and follow-up. | 35 |
| The partner supports the core values and principles of the 'Guidelines for the Alternative Care of Children'. | \bigcirc | Child participation emerged as a linked theme, with partners describing how child participation was part of the way residential care homes worked. | 22 |

Partners providing residential and other forms of alternative care worked to put the Minimum Standards of Alternative Care into practice. General experience on the ground was that children need a safe place to stay overnight, especially after being 'rescued' following experiences of trafficking or sexual exploitation. Several recurring practices were distinguished, as listed in the table 10 below, accompanied by in how many countries this practice was found (distribution column, ranging from one to four countries) and how

often these practices were mentioned (frequency column). Popular practices were consultative child participation in the context of alternative care (ten mentions, 20%), orientation or training of prospective foster parents (seven mentions, 14%), focus on children with disabilities (five mentions, 10%), and counselling sessions (five mentions, 10%). Most of the practices were only found in one country, except for attention to childrne with disabilities, which was mentioned by three countries.

Table 10. Practice related to alternative care practices found in data by mention and number of countries mentioning the practice.

RACTICE

| Consultative child participation |
|---|
| Orientation/training of prospective foster parents (in pers |
| Focus on or attention to children with disabilities |
| Counselling sessions |
| Children involved in decision-making |
| Economic empowerment for caregivers |
| Pilot project for foster care of adolescents |
| Training for staff on child safeguarding |
| Family time sessions |
| Use of child-friendly materials to explain journey 'from rescue |
| Creative ways for children to share opinions and expension |
| Support services for survivors (legal assistance, home visits, |
| Training of caregivers |
| Access to education for children in alternative care |

Children, community members, key informants and some experts emphasised the importance of securing a safe place for every child to spend their childhoods. In contrast, sentiment among staff was mixed. One in three Staff Survey respondents could not see the relevance of quality alternative care to the work of TdH NL.280 Institutionalisation is, however, treated as the default practice for survivors of exploitation, despite major challenges with



capacity, resources and safety. Moreover, literature suggests that institutionalisation should be treated as a last resort. Child participants also stressed that children should be living at home and not in alternative care. Partners did show that they prioritise family and clearly show effort to address the needs of children in their care. This is largely achieved through the incorporation of other CCIs, especially child participation.

²⁸⁰ Staff survey, 2022

Living outside of family care needs to be better recoanised as a risk factor for child exploitation

One in three staff indicated that they did not see the relevance of alternative care to the prevention or response to child exploitation.²⁸¹ Specifically, they did not see the relevance of this issue in their projects. This insight might have to do with the lack of understanding of what alternative care entails. On the interview question which CCI made the least sense, staff and partners most often answered minimum standards of alternative care. In the CCI reports, alternative care was often not reported on or marked as 'not applicable for this project'. In the workshops with children and the community, there was confusion on what alternative care was as well. For instance, when children were asked if they were familiar with the subject, nobody responded in the Philippines and an elaborate explanation and translation had to be given to children in Uganda.

Facilitator: "What is your opinion about Iminimum standards of alternative carel". No one was able to share their ideas about the topic, because they were unfamiliar with it."282

The reported lack of relevance and difficulties applying alternative care by staff members might be because they associate the Minimum Standards strictly with residential care of children. Alternative care forms an essential part of prevention of exploitation, but also a necessary element of child protection response programming. Some respondents did see the value of this issue but reported having some difficulties applying it. For example, one staff member reported: 'I usually struggle with this CCI, I rarely see it and when I would think of how to improve, I find this really hard'. 283

The lack of awareness is in contrast with what children indicated were the most important factors that contributed to risk of child exploitation. Tallying the mentions of vulnerability characteristics throughout the workshops leads to 19 different factors. Figure 14 shows all 19 factors, where the bigger the factor, the more it is mentioned in the workshops with children. From the figure, it can clearly be seen that family and living situation is the biggest vulnerability factor, with (almost) twice as many mentions (101) as other vulnerability factors such as economic situation (62), disability (51) and gender (46), and three times as many as factors such as education (36) and age (33).

Figure 21. Factors mentioned by children that contribute to risk of child exploitation²⁸⁴



The vital and protective role of family care emerged strongly in data analysis in general. 'Family' was the second biggest code in all the data, coded 265 times. Children's views were in agreement with the literature which outlines the vulnerability of children without parental care to abuse and exploitation.²⁸⁵ For example, an intersectional factor closely associated with empowerment of children was having 'no parents.'286

Facilitator: "What leads to... less protection from child exploitation?"

²⁸⁴ Workshop Children 1: Workshop Children 2: Workshop Children 3: Workshop Children 4.1: Workshop Children 4.2 285 See Kaur et al., 2018; Konstantopoulou & Mantziou, 2020; Kvrgic & Jovovic, 2003; UNICEF, 2014) ²⁸⁶ Workshop_Children_2 ²⁸⁷ Workshop_Children_4.2

²⁸¹ Staff survey, 2022 ²⁸² Workshop_Children_3

²⁸⁸ Workshop_Children_2

Child participant: "Being an orphan and having no family to stay with leads to less protection"

Facilitator: "Okay, so this is a family situation."287

When asked to create a backstory for their 12-year-old character, Tadlah, children from Ethiopia described how 'not having any family members' led to her 'living in the streets' where she was exposed to abuse and sexual exploitation.288

²⁸³ Staff survey, 2022

Figure 22. Children's workshop drawing of avatar Tadlah, a 12-year-old girl living on the streets



Institutionalisation as the default practice for exploited children, despite lack of capacity and safety

According to a 2017 Residential Care assessment carried out by TdH NL, institutionalisation seems to be the default practice for abused and exploited children who have been separated from their families. Often this is due to a presumption by social welfare agencies or care providers that residential care is essential for abused or exploited children, but sometimes the decision is connected to a lack of alternatives.289

"Residential care facilities caring for abused and exploited children sometimes provide emergency or shortterm provision, and this also has implications for the delivery of high-quality care.

Figure 23. Children's workshop drawing of avatar Keya, having low power because she does not have the support of the family



For example, after a short stay in an emergency shelter, children are often referred to other agencies to support their longer-term care and eventual family reintegration. making strong record keeping and case management essential. [...] Such shortterm shelters may not need to have a full range of services available for children but would need specialised staff who can quickly develop a relationship of trust with children.⁹⁹290

Children in institutional care and children experiencing homelessness are targeted because of this vulnerability. Children with disabilities are disproportionately represented in both these groups.²⁹¹ Young girls with learning disabilities in institutional care are more likely to be sexually exploited than their non-disabled peers.²⁹²

That institutionalisation is treated as the default practice for survivors of exploitation is worrying, as a number of research studies document the widespread exposure of children in alternative care to violence, exploitation and abuse. Institutionalisation should be the last resort and in the best interest of the child as institutionalisation even when there is a surviving parent may lead to developmental delays in children and make them more prone to abuse, developmental delays and elevated abuse.²⁹³ Children placed in alternative care generally come from vulnerable backgrounds and are hence more prone to exploitation. Children living in all forms of alternative care may be more at risk of having their human rights violated.²⁹⁴ For example, they may be isolated from their families and communities, lack the suitable care that meets their individual needs and best interests, suffer from unstable relationships, and be at higher risk of experiencing violence and abuse, including sexual exploitation and sexual abuse.295

Corporal punishment is the most common form of violence against children and is often perpetrated by caregivers and normalised in many contexts.²⁹⁶ Research relating to extended-family care indicates significant levels of violence and abuse.297 Children in institutional care can be easy targets for traffickers seeking to exploit vulnerabilities for their own gain. Children

²⁹¹ Coltof, 2021; Fuentes-Peláez et al., 2022; Rubenstein et al., 2022

²⁸⁹ Delap et al., 2017 ²⁹⁰ Delap et al., 2017

²⁹² Coltof, 2021

are trafficked out of institutions into other forms of exploitation including sexual abuse, forced labour and forced criminality, or for the purpose of illegal adoption, which may subsequently involve other forms of exploitation.²⁹⁸ Child sexual abuse is the reality of institutional care.299

In our data, multiple barriers for appropriate alternative care arose. For instance, the issue of corruption in shelters: 'The shelter homes run by the government. There is a lot of corruption, children are beaten there'.300 As this theme often came up in relation to child trafficking. It would therefore be interesting to explore the connection between Trafficking in Children and minimum standards of alternative care.

Lack of resources emerged as the primary barrier for partners to maintain minimum standards of alternative care. Participants in all four countries mention lack of residential centres³⁰¹, of both general staff and of expert staff (such as psychologists or other experts)³⁰², capacity issues³⁰³, lack of funding and external support.³⁰⁴

"But it is not very easy to maintain the minimum standards. Like the ratio of children to staff-1 to 8. It is not easy. Donors are not interested in funding this because it is very costly."305

³⁰⁴ Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.1; Key Informant Interview_Staff_2; Key Informant Interview_Staff_1.1

²⁹³ van IJzendoorn et al., 2020

²⁹⁴ Council of Europe, 2021

²⁹⁵ Council of Europe, 2021

²⁹⁶ Global Initiative to End All Corporal Punishment of Children, 2020

²⁹⁷ See, for example Bald et al., 2022; Font & Gershoff, 2020; Sanchez-Gomez, 2012

²⁹⁸ Office to Monitor and Combat Trafficking in Persons, 2018

²⁹⁹ Wickramarathne & Gunaratne, 2019

³⁰⁰ Kev Informant Interview Staff 1.3

³⁰¹ Workshop_Community_3; Key Informant Interview_Staff_1.1; Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.1 ³⁰² Workshop_Community_3

³⁰³ Workshop_Community_3

³⁰⁵ Key Informant Interview_Staff_1.1

Additionally, lack of government policies and regulations related to children living outside of family or parental care was reported as a barrier to meeting the standards and protecting these children.

"Not all the project's actions are relevant. There is a lack of opportunities for alternative care. There is a need for more capacity-building efforts for the partners and capture learnings. There is no standard operating system by the Government policies."³⁰⁶

Lastly, closely linked with the lack of resources, is the lack of or the presence of few minimum standards of alternative care possibilities. Participants mention several issues such as the illegality of foster care in Bangladesh³⁰⁷, the government closing alternative care facilities in the Philippines³⁰⁸, as well as barriers in implementing alternative care options other than residential care.

"It was difficult to implement these three options: foster care, adoption and institutional care. There are limited options for who is providing this care."³⁰⁹

Respondents indicate that families should be prioritised

The last paragraph shows the gap between theory and practice, as literature suggests institutionalisation should be the last resort, but in practice it is used by default. In recognition of the importance of families coming first in alternative care, Governments and others, including TdH NL programming should prioritise efforts to prevent unnecessary separation of children from their family and support family reintegration or kinship care should be explored as options.³¹⁰ Evidence from all countries indicated that this was being practised. The families of children in alternative care are traced and if possible, the children are reunited with their families. If this is not possible, safe alternative options are looked for such as foster or community care.

"There is a nice project where children get to be reunited with their families (if the conditions permit) but have the option to be in a safe space while things get to be worked out with their relatives."³¹¹

Partners made sure that reunification with parents was a priority, on the condition that this was safe. Multiple examples were found where partners assessed the capability of parents before reunification, or where they followed up on families that were living together again.

"Bidlisiw [Foundation] developed guidelines and tools for alternative care. The tool will assess the parents' capacities on parenting and another tool is to assess whether the child will be referred for either foster care, kinship or shelter. Bidlisiw already identified seven candidates for piloting the alternative care program together with [the State]."³¹²

"17 boys and 16 girls have been followed up and technically supported after reunifications and they are found well-integrated and adjusted with their respective families."³¹³

In Uganda, the partner mentioned multiple times that they provided extra support for parents to make sure that the children were well looked after. Their priority is that the place where the child will stay after being in their care home is a 'sustainable'³¹⁴ option to avoid multiple transfers afterwards. These extra measures consisted of providing 'psychosocial support'³¹⁵ and 'economic empowerment'³¹⁶ for families.

³¹² Report_2019_3.3
 ³¹³ Report_2020_2.14
 ³¹⁴ Report_2021_4.5
 ³¹⁵ Report_2019_4.2
 ³¹⁷ Report_2019_3.3
 ³¹⁸ Report_2019_3.3
 ³¹⁹ Report_2019_3.3
 ³²⁰ Report_2018-2019_3.4
 ³²¹ Report 2019 3.3

 $^{\scriptscriptstyle 306}$ Staff survey, 2022

- ³⁰⁷ Key Informant Interview_Staff_1.1
- ³⁰⁸ Workshop_Community_3
- ³⁰⁹ Key Informant Interview_Staff_2
- ³¹⁰ UNGA, 2010a ³¹¹ Staff survey_2022

In the Philippines, similar attention was paid to enhance the quality of foster care. The partner organised 'orientations on the Foster Care Program'³¹⁷, where they 'raised awareness'³¹⁸ about this type of alternative care and 'gauged the interest of the community'.³¹⁹ These sessions led to a better understanding of the importance of foster care, the realisation that preparation is needed before fostering or adopting a child and participants expressing interest in becoming a licensed foster parent.³²⁰ In a later quarter, a survey was conducted to assess people's capability to foster children rescued from exploitative situations.³²¹

Children also voiced that they find it important that a child can live with their families. Children in all countries made comments about how being able to help your family means that you are more empowered. Living at home with family was unanimously described as a protective factor by children. Disruptions to parental *'protection', 'love and affection'* caused by things like *'domestic conflict'* or *'divorce'* were seen by children as an intersectional factor closely associated with disempowerment of children.

This sentiment was so strong among the children in one of the workshops that they felt TdH NL should stop focussing on alternative care as a CCI, because the only place children should be is with their families. They were concerned that if parents know that money goes towards children living in alternative care options, they would stop caring for their children. This would thus lead to less protection for children. The group therefore recommended that TdH NL should focus on minimum standards of *all care* instead of just *alternative care*.³²² In light of this recommendation, some practices related to providing support to families were found. This included training caregivers on risks related to child exploitation and providing them with training on economic empowerment.

Figure 24. Children's workshops' exercise whether to stop (pink sticky note) or continue (green sticky note) with each CCI



Despite challenges, partners make sure children's needs are met in care, often through incorporation of the other cross-cutting issues

Despite the above outlined challenges, partners were still able to provide appropriate care for children. All partners that reported on alternative care mentioned that they make sure their facilities abide by national standards and guidelines.³²³ Additionally, one partner indicated that they get court orders to legally be able to take care of the children.³²⁴ Besides necessary things such as shelter, food and medical care, there seems to be several ways in which children are supported. These include counselling sessions, schooling, and provision of legal assistance, home visits, care conferences and family therapy sessions. Generally, all partners showed that they have a great sense of responsibility to make sure the needs of children in their care are met.

A reason could be that they paid close attention to incorporating the other CCIs. Many examples of child participation were found, five mentions of inclusion of children with disabilities and one mention of gender mainstreaming. To start with the latter, one partner reported that *'boys and girls have separate homes, with separate facilities to enable them to have privacy and be able to enjoy their spaces.'*³²⁵ To ensure that gender was still mainstreamed, they included and mixed children from all genders in activities and interventions *'to ensure gender equity and creation of gender awareness.'*³²⁶

Five times a specific focus on and attention to children with disabilities was mentioned. It is of particular importance to pay attention to the link between alternative care options and children with disabilities.

"[Children with disabilities] have often been left until the last group of people that are de-institutionalised."³²⁷

Although this expert did report that she has the feeling this 'changed a little bit'328 work still needs to be done. Interviews and CCI reports from two countries showed that professionals often feel that the additional needs of children with disabilities can only be met through institutionalisation. For instance, a study in 2015 found that 17% of children with disabilities were placed in residential care in comparison to 7% of their non-disabled peers.³²⁹ In a study undertaken in Northern Ireland, children with disabilities were typically placed in the care system for a long period (over five years), separated from their siblings and primarily because their families were unable to cope.330

There were both mentions of including children with disabilities in the homes as making partnerships or referral systems so that children with disabilities can get help elsewhere.³³¹ For inclusion, children with disabilities were part of activities in

³²⁶ Report_2019_4.2

³²⁷ Key Informant Interview_Expert_8
³²⁸ Key Informant Interview_Expert_8
³²⁹ Kelley et al., 2015, p. 38
³³⁰ Kelley et al., 2015
³³¹ Report_2021_4.5; Report_2018_3.5
³³² Report_2020_2.14
³³³ Report_2020_2.14

alternative care and received (specialised) services.³³²

"Children with disabilities (CWDs) were our focus of attention in all the project activities and in the process. 39 children (22 girls and 17 boys) in total with various kinds of disabilities including the likes of hearing, physical and mental impairments (26 of them were with physical disabilities, 6 with minor mental limitations, 2 vision problems and 5 children with hearing impairments) have been involved and actively participated in trainings. dialogues, reunifications and service provision."³³³

The highest mention of practices besides minimum standards related to the participation of children. Many examples were found of child participatory activities to enhance the care given in facilities and listen to children's needs. Practices mentioned included involving children in decisionmaking, encouraging them to share their feedback and teaching children to share their opinions creatively. In two instances, reports mentioned practices of taking newly rescued children through pictorial flow charts illustrating a child's journey from rescue to reintegration and enrollment in school.

During an interview, a partner described

 $^{^{\}rm 322}\,Workshop_children_4.2$

³²³ Report_2020_2.14; Report_2019_4.2; Report_2019_2.1; Report_2021_2.6; Report_2019_3.3

³²⁴ Report_2019_4.2; Report_2019_4.3; Report_2019_4.4

³²⁵ Report_2019_4.2

how child participation was incorporated into decisions around admission to residential care for children with a history of sexual exploitation. Bearing in mind that this was only possible in cases that were *'not a matter of life and death'* it was described that children were given 'time to decide' if they would like to be placed in the home.³³⁴

"Once referred to our shelter, we allow a transition period, children can stay one night in the shelter, then a couple of days to observe and meet other girls before they decide if they want to stay. This strategy helped us mitigate cases of escape and understanding the child's fears, anxiety in the shelter and thoughts in separation with her family."³³⁵

Not only were examples found where children were consulted on the care received, but partners showed that they collaborated with children to 'run the residence together with the children.'³³⁶ "During monthly meetings with the children who live in the residential facility, policies are being set forth, reviewed and evaluated together with the children, to check if it is still applicable or if there is a need to modify. This is how we run the residence together with the children."³³⁷

Lastly, evidence was also found that partners took accountability for improving their services based on feedback from children. This helped to gain trust and to empower children.

"Children and youth gain confidence to express themselves in a child friendly manner knowing that their issues raised on crucial matters will be treated with urgency and action will be taken seriously, for redress with the set framework and protocols."³³⁸

THIS IS HOW IT'S DONE: Alternative Care at Dwelling Places

Dwelling Places is a partner organisation in Uganda that focuses on the rescue and rehabilitation of street-connected children in Uganda and reconciliation with their family. Dwelling Places implemented GAA, the Sustained Response to Child Trafficking and Unsafe Migration in Uganda and the Community Action to End Child Trafficking and Sexual Exploitation in Napak District.

Child trafficking is a big problem in Karamoja, where the implemented projects were situated. Children in the workshops often talked about child trafficking, mentioning children running away from home and children being taken to big cities such as Kampala and Nairobi. They mentioned that this is a dangerous situation for children, as they face difficult circumstances there.

Figure 25. Children's drawing of children getting abused and getting hit by a car while migrating to Kampala



- ³³⁶ Key Informant Interview_Partner_3.1
- ³³⁷ Key Informant Interview_Partner_3.1
- 338 Depart 2004 4.2

Dwelling Places also recognised this problem, rescued children from these situations and provided services to enable children to return to their families and communities. In the reporting period, Dwelling Places had two transitional homes (residential alternative care) where they provided these services. Due to the pandemic, they were forced to close one of the homes.³³⁹ With over 20 years of experience focusing on street-connected children, they have excellent examples on providing safe and quality care for children in alternative care settings.

For each child, Dwelling Places obtained court care orders for legal authority to care for the children. Simultaneously, they continued to trace family members with the ultimate goal of family reunification. Where this was not possible, other alternatives were sought such as community care or (temporary) foster care.³⁴⁰ When a suitable solution was found, an individual and sustainable exit plan was made. If a child was reunified with family, additional care measures are taken to ensure safety of the child:

³³⁹ Report_2021_4.5³⁴⁰ Key Informant Interview_Partner_4.1

 ³³⁴ Key Informant Interview_Partner_3.1
 ³³⁵ Key Informant Interview_Partner_3.1

"We have an active case management committee that [...] links families with relevant social networks in the community for safeguarding against unnecessary separation."³⁴¹

Dwelling Places also conducted *'pre-tracing and resettlement visits*⁶⁴² to ensure a safe reunification and continued to follow-up with children that left their facilities.

What stood out from observations, interviews and CCI reports was the comprehensive and individual-focussed approach that Dwelling Places took to the care of each child. First, extensive time was taken to build trust with children. Trust was highlighted in the expert interviews as essential when working with children who have been exploited:

"Trust and relationships are crucial while doing projects in CE which includes elements of betrayal and trust. Building that trust is essential, CP cannot happen without it..."

There is an assumption that children that have gone through the same experience will trust each other. That is not necessarily the case. We need to be very careful about the assumptions that we make. One child said 'I'm sure you are all very kind, but I don't trust anyone'."³⁴³ When a child was placed in the home, Dwelling Places held 'orientation meetings' to 'create rapport'.³⁴⁴ Our partner paid special attention to make sure the children 'understand and appreciate their rehabilitation process at Dwelling Places'.³⁴⁵ In 2020, this was enhanced by developing 'the Child's Journey', 'to be used to explain Dwelling Places' goals and activities, and children's expectations in a child friendly manner'.³⁴⁶ The Child's Journey was displayed at all the workstations and on walls in the children's homes to help children understand what to expect during the rehabilitation process.³⁴⁷

Dwelling Places indicated they have a committee that regularly came together 'to review individual children's cases, discuss, develop and review individual care plans to guide our interventions so that we meet *individual needs.*³⁴⁸ Throughout their stay in the transitional homes, staff continued to pay attention to each of the children and teach them to voice their opinion in individual and group sessions as well encouraging them to talk to staff whenever they had something on their mind. Dwelling Places used different types of sessions to empower children and to make sure that they had space to express their views on the services they are receiving:

"Within the quarter, we had two orientation meetings, seven open heart sessions and seven family time sessions to create rapport with the children and create

a safe space where the children can share their opinions, feedback, concerns on progress, challenges and areas of improvement in our programs and services. Children were encouraged to open up in sharing their likes and dislikes in residential care."³⁴⁹

For the open-heart sessions, the house mother in charge of the home invited all children to sit in the dining room. Depending on what was going on at that time, a topic was introduced by the house mother and children were 'invited to freely share their opinions on the topic, and what they feel *needs to be done differently.*³⁵⁰ When the house mother sensed that children were not yet ready to share, they would start with a game to *'help create a safe space for open* sharing.851 Combining different methods for sharing (in a group with peers, with family or one-on-one with social workers) ensured that children with different personalities and needs had opportunities to open up that suited them and their '*journey*'.

Dwelling Places placed a lot of emphasis on the importance of empowerment and safety, but also made sure that they were accountable to do something with the feedback received to enhance their care. For example, information gathered during the open heart sessions *'is compiled and shared with the line department for consideration and improvement.*⁸⁵² In the quarterly reports, Dwelling Places always included the feedback received from children and

³⁴⁹ Report_2019_4.4
 ³⁵⁰ Report_2019_4.9
 ³⁵¹ Report_2019_4.9
 ³⁵² Report_2019_4.0
 ³⁵³ Report_2021_4.5
 ³⁵⁵ Report_2021_4.5

³⁴⁷ Report_2021_4.6

what they had done with that feedback. This resulted in a culture where 'children and youth gain confidence to express their voice in a child friendly manner, knowing that their issues will be taken seriously.⁸⁵³

For example, Dwelling Places noticed that name calling was an issue among the children. They decided this could be a teaching moment for the children to both tackle the issue and to enhance their leadership skills.

"The children, guided by the house parent, agreed to have leaders among the group who would be able to inform and encourage others to behave appropriately. It was decided that this role would be rotated among the children to ensure that everyone got a chance to lead."³⁵⁴

The partner thus shows an incredibly proactive attitude in making sure that children under their care felt heard and received appropriate services. They held 'bi-annual home management meetings' with the local government to ensure the guality of their homes was sufficient.³⁵⁵ Staff were also regularly updated and trained on important measures to ensure safety. For example, visitors, volunteers and interns were 'required to sign before interacting with the children.³⁵⁶ Additionally, Dwelling Places participated in the trauma informed care training organised by TdH NL. They also recognised that after high turnover rates, training was required for staff that

³⁵⁶ Report 2019 4.9

³⁴¹ Report_2019_4.1

³⁴² Report_2019_4.2

³⁴³ Key Informant Interview_Expert_5

³⁴⁴ Report_2019_2.2

³⁴⁵ Report_2019_2.2

³⁴⁶ Report_2021_4.6

³⁴⁸ Report_2021_4.5

worked directly with children:

"In-depth training was conducted for the staff working directly with the children every second week after realising that the majority of the staff were new and needed to receive in-depth training on child protection."³⁵⁷

In their homes, Dwelling Places created a family-like environment where staff pay individual attention to the needs of the children. This was combined with provision of services and educational sessions to 'empower children on their rights and responsibilities. For example, it talks about the right to education, survival, participation, free learning environment and *a right to protection.*³⁵⁸ Besides teaching these topics to children, observations and analysis clearly showed that Dwelling Places is modelling this empowering environment themselves. They do not only provide shelter, food and medical care, but clearly go beyond the basic needs of children to make children happy and help them grow.

Just as a family would do, children were taught various important topics that are needed for adulthood and independence, such as *'hygiene*³⁵⁹, *'appropriate behaviour*³⁶⁰, *'the use of magic words so that they can live peacefully with others* *in the community*^{®61}, *'stress and anxiety management and coping mechanisms*^{®62}, *'learning about different body parts and their purpose or usage and some body changes that happened during growth and development*.'³⁶³ You could even say that these lessons went beyond what a family provides for, as it is done in a structured and professional manner.

The great amount of effort that Dwelling Places placed on the wellbeing of each child and constantly improving their practices resulted in their exceeding minimum standards of alternative care. Feedback from the children showed how grateful children were and most importantly, how much impact the effort of Dwelling Places has on them. This varied from a girl describing her bed as 'paradise³⁶⁴, to another child expressing gratitude for learning skills such as 'making snacks like chapati, cakes and *doughnuts.*³⁶⁵ The observation that children expressed both positive and negative feedback indicated that children really felt free to voice their opinions and were empowered to speak up.

"The children also shared how they had seen notable improvement in their selfworth and image, as a result of the counselling sessions that helped them to appreciate their value and worth."³⁶⁶ Ultimately, this empowering aspect also aids towards preventing recidivism, as children are *'encouraged to ensure that they remained at home [..] and that they stayed focused on their education once schools opened up.*⁸⁶⁷ Children also expressed

Closing observations

In the last five years, Minimum Standards of Alternative Care was less often included in projects and programs to prevent and respond to child exploitation. This could stem from multiple identified challenges such as lack of facilities, capacities and resources. Additionally, there seemed to be a lack of understanding of what alternative care is. Institutionalisation is often treated as the default option, whereas there are other options such as community or foster care that are less explored. Partners also indicated that they often did not see why alternative care is relevant in the context of child exploitation. Children, however, were very clear. The most important empowering or disempowering factor is a child's family or living situation. They agreed that all children

- ³⁶¹Report_2019_4.4
- ³⁶² Report_2021_4.5
- ³⁶³ Report_2021_4.5
- ³⁶⁴ Report_2021_4.6

³⁶⁷ Report_2021_4.5

³⁶⁸ Report_2021_4.6

that 'they were looking forward to going back home and staying home, not on the streets.⁹⁶⁸ This learning is incredibly important for the sustainability of the help for children that remain(ed) in alternative care.

deserve to be cared for properly, whether that be in their own family or in alternative care. Focussing solely on alternative care could then be tricky, as one of the groups of children highlighted. Children were afraid that if attention would go to alternative care options, parents would take less good care of their children in order to get help. Broadening the focus to minimum standards of all care options would then be best. The partners that did have an alternative care element in their programs clearly showed their sense of responsibility to provide appropriate care and paid attention to the needs of children with different genders and disabilities. It was great to see that child participation was often used to improve the care in residential facilities, which even led to empowerment of children.

³⁵⁷ Report_2021_4.5

³⁵⁸ Report_2019_4.10

³⁵⁹ Report_2021_4.5

³⁶⁰ Report_2019_4.9

³⁶⁵ Report_2021_4.5 ³⁶⁶ Report_2021_4.5

3.5 Insights gained from five years of experience

After five years of implementation of the CCIs, we have gathered many promising practices and lessons learned that we can take on moving forward. This last section of taking stock will therefore provide four insights that are gathered from how the CCIs were introduced and implemented. In short, we have seen that a couple of things are needed for effective implementation of a framework such as the CCIs. These include:

- Having time for partners and country teams to familiarise themselves with the CCIs
- Content and skills training
- Adequate resources and management support
- Link to strategic goals.

Additionally, as TdH NL works globally, there are different contexts to consider. A framework should be adaptable to context and improvements. The fact that not all CCIs were as well implemented, is therefore unlikely to be a consequence of lack of effort, but rather stemming from the methodology of the CCI framework. The following paragraphs will explain these insights further that will be the foundation for the recommendations moving forward, outlined in chapter 4.

Embedding lasting change requires leadership, rather than instruction

Overall mixed outcomes in cross-cutting issues implementation were found, partly because of how their introduction and implementation was managed. Reflecting back, a staff member remembered their 'last minute' inclusion. After months of development of a multi-country programme, with many implementing partners, they were added shortly before programme inception:

"CCI started in 2017 and we started the GAA programme in 2016, I clearly recall that in the first week of 2017 my line manager informed me about the CCIs. We had a kickoff meeting on the eighth of January and on the seventh of January we got a document that we needed to include this in our implementation."³⁶⁹

This contributed to issues with acceptability³⁷⁰ and a feeling among staff that the CCIs 'stalled at the... minimum standard stage rather than being fully embraced and adopted³⁷¹ or mainstreamed. Consequently, and despite efforts to address this,³⁷² the CCIs largely remained something that was imposed by powerful actors in the organisation, on programme staff and implementing partners, without adequate management of resources or support.³⁷³ One of the expert key informants interviewed stated that leadership is *'part of good practice' and support of approaches to practise, like child participation and intersectionality require understanding 'from the top':*

"If the leadership isn't committed to reflect and change on how things are done it's too much to ask that from staff because they don't have the power and influence to affect change on a systemic level.

...Often the problem is that there are workers that are very keen to do it, but on the top it isn't understood how much time and effort it takes...Actual understanding at the top makes a massive difference.⁹³⁷⁴

As a consequence, the cross-cutting issues were perceived to be an additional burden rather than a strategic imperative.³⁷⁵ To institutionalise new ideas into policy and practice across a dynamic portfolio of projects and partners, the responsibility for making *'concrete steps, mechanisms and processes'* needs to be *'organisation-wide and at the highest levels.*⁸⁷⁶ Successful operationalisation further requires the prioritisation of resources and expertise to

- ³⁷⁴ Key Informant Interview_Expert_5
- ³⁷⁵ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.2
- ³⁷⁶ ECOSOC, 1997
- ³⁷⁷ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2018, 2021, 2023b
- ³⁷⁸ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2019a
 ³⁷⁹ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.1
- ³⁸⁰ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2019b
- ³⁸¹ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2019

³⁷¹ Staff survey, 2022

support implementation. On reflection, in the case of the CCIs, this was systematically absent.

Circumstances during the five-year period entailed much organisational change and uncertainty. Between 2017 and 2022, three distinct strategies were developed for the organisation,³⁷⁷ only one of which included the four cross-cutting issues as they were articulated in 2016. Aside from the CCIs, neither the Fit for the Future nor the Exposing Hidden Forms of Exploitation strategies were implemented. Additionally, a complete turnover of leadership occurred in 2021 and 2022 and an organisational restructuring was initiated.

In the early years of the period reviewed lack of partner capacity and resistance to the CCI Framework were noted.³⁷⁸ Later, as the need to embrace child participation, gender, inclusion and alternative care were recognised, Country Offices and implementing partners raised questions about expectations, resource, capacity and training needs.³⁷⁹ These went largely unmet. Capacity strengthening and technical support were neither prioritised nor budgeted for in strategic or operational planning. With limited capacity, Technical Advisors within the organisation attempted to promote the comprehensive implementation of the CCIs, as evidenced by the Framework³⁸⁰ and curricula³⁸¹ developed, and position papers drafted by the working groups. However, these were not strategic priorities and remained in draft format.

³⁷³ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.1

³⁶⁹ Key Informant Interview_Staff_1.1

 $^{^{\}rm 370}$ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2019a

³⁷² Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.2

They were not finalised, approved or fully implemented.³⁸¹2

Working on child exploitation globally calls for approaches that are adaptable

As TdH NL works globally, there are different contexts that need to be considered. Although all four CCIs are aligned with international human rights frameworks, they were particularly difficult to implement in some contexts where TdH NL works. As described in the Listen Up! Theory of Change, a root cause of child exploitation is 'a historical system of injustice and inequality' that has resulted in 'harmful *norms'* which oppress children on the basis of intersecting factors 'such as their age, gender, disability, where they were born, in which households, and whether they go to school.'383 Implementing the cross-cutting issues required challenging local norms and constructions of childhood, gender and disability.

Although generally uncontroversial in liberal Western societies, in some contexts the approaches put forward by the CCIs ran counter to traditional ideas about:

- Children (especially girls) speaking up, participating in civic life and exercising agency in 'adult' spaces.
- Gender equality and recognition of children's rights regardless of their sexual orientation, gender identities or expression, or sex characteristics.
- Disability and myths and misconceptions surrounding it.
- Deinstitutionalisation, and what is in a 'child's best interests.'

Context-specific cultural and social norms and practices varied greatly, resulting in each Country Office, and to some extent each project, having a different departure point for implementing the CCIs. For example, whereas in some communities girls enjoyed relative freedom and were safe to move around, go to school and participate in community life, in others they were considered a 'burden' on their family and all but hidden from public life.³⁸⁴ Whereas the municipality of projects in the Philippines had a mayor-appointed team lobbying for LGBTQIA+ ordinances and running Pride campaigns,³⁸⁵ similar activities were illegal or extremely stigmatised in other settings.

The minimum requirements stipulated that a 'Context Analysis and Problem Statement [be included] in the proposal to provide data and evidence related to boys/ girls/ (sexual minorities where it exists)', and that 'aspire to undertake a gender-analysis of their core work.' For inclusion, one of the requirements was that 'context analysis (and problem statement) in the proposal to reflect partners' awareness of children with disabilities in their project area/community (including attitudes and practices towards children with disabilities.' In retrospect the depth and sustained engagement with these analyses was lacking and insufficiently supported by training and resources.

Besides the lack of differentiation of the minimum requirements per context, the lack of adaptability over time also proved to be a challenge. Whereas it was the idea that the minimum requirements were a starting point that was going to be evolving, this was never executed. This may have to do with the many changes in strategy and not embedding the CCIs in the different strategies. The unintended consequence of this introduction of the minimum requirements contributed to the perception that the CCIs were an *'ineffective..box-ticking exercise'.*³⁸⁶ This was exacerbated when the cross-cutting issues were integrated into the quarterly review dashboard system, shifting the minimum requirements from being *'a starting point to an end goal'.*³⁸⁷

While there were instances where country teams and partners far surpassed the minimum requirements, this was inconsistent and went unrecognised. Furthermore, staff surveyed and interviewed found the 'minimum standards were in many cases not sufficiently ambitious to be meaningful.³⁸⁸ Some hoped for *'proactive engagement in* programming' and for CCIs to 'be more than compliance to...standards. 389 The reporting system with accompanying 'traffic light' scoring system didn't leave room for this proactive engagement or additional efforts. Any practices related to the CCIs that might have been very promising or effective and went beyond the minimum requirements were thus not recognised. The varying starting points thus need to be considered and the CCI framework with accompanying minimum requirements should have been adapted to those. Additionally, adaptability of these minimum requirements should happen on a more regular basis than every five years.

Significant gaps in understanding of basic concepts related to children's rights, child exploitation and CCIs persist

³⁸⁶ Staff survey, 2022

An overarching theme for all CCIs was that there is a lack of conceptual clarity. For each CCI, one of the key themes identified was linked to gaps in understanding. For child participation, it was the focus on consultative activities, and lack of meaningful activities that were collaborative or child-led. For gender mainstreaming, the theme was the focus on sex versus gender. For inclusion with disabilities, the theme was a narrow view of disability which mostly focussed on physical disabilities. And with alternative care, there was a focus on institutionalisation instead of other care options.

Part of the unclarity could stem from the minimum requirements that were set in 2017. Two staff members indicated that for instance for Child Participation, the requirements were too similar, as 'they all ask for feedback, except child friendly materials.'³⁹⁰ As was explained in the Child Participation section, asking for feedback is only one way of participation. For Gender Mainstreaming, a split between boys and girls was asked, whereas gender encompasses a broad spectrum of gender identities. For the inclusion minimum requirements, the emphasis was put on partnering with and referring children to other organisations and for alternative care a focus on residential facilities. The focusses of these minimum requirements could lead to misinterpretation of what the crosscutting issues truly mean.

When talking with children about the four themes, questions came up about the core concepts of the CCIs, mainly about alternative care and gender. Additionally,

³⁸⁷ Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.2

³⁸⁸ Key Informant Interview_Staff_1.1

³⁸⁹ Informant Interview_Staff_3.1

³⁹⁰ Staff survey, 2022

³⁸² Key Informant Interview_Staff_0.2

 $^{^{\}scriptscriptstyle 383}$ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2022

³⁸⁴ Key Informant Interview_Staff_1.1

³⁸⁵ Key Informant Interview Likeminded organisation_3

the concepts mainstreaming, and inclusion needed explanation. For example, in the workshop in Uganda, the facilitators noticed that the translator had to explain what alternative care was, suggesting that not all concepts in English are directly translatable. Another example is that in the CCIs reports, inclusion of children with disabilities is commonly understood as participation. In Figure 11, we have shown that this relates more to integration rather than inclusion.

At community level, a lack of awareness of what the CCIs are sometimes linked to diminished feelings of importance of the cross-cutting issues or misconceptions. For instance, for Gender Mainstreaming, 'in very conservative communities, they don't want boys and girls to mix. They think they might learn bad things,'³⁹¹ for Child Participation, 'at the community level, there are brokers who try to convince the parents against the [children's] clubs.'³⁹² This was in some cases a barrier to being able to implement the CCIs.

"Children's involvement depends on their age and the consent of parents. You may want a child of 10 to participate in your activity, but the parents may say no. Then it is difficult to engage with that child."³⁹³

Besides the unclarity of the CCIs, there was also some confusion about child exploitation. Across groups of respondents, child exploitation was mostly explained as child labour. And within that link, there was often talk about child abuse and or household chores that would constitute child labour.

"We talked about child labour. Parents who tell their children to do heavy work, carrying big jerry cans and you cannot refuse. You will get beaten."³⁹⁴

Figure 26. Drawing of a participant of the children's workshop about child exploitation



Early marriage and trafficking were sometimes mentioned, but SEC and OCSE were almost never spontaneously identified as child exploitation. This suggests a low level of understanding of child exploitation and child rights.

For effective implementation of the CCIs, it is necessary that staff and partners are on the same page. This regards clarity on what child exploitation, the risk factors for child exploitation, and cross-cutting issues mean as well as understanding why these concepts are important and how they can be implemented. Through program implementation, the clarity on these topics as well as the urgency to address them needs to be spread to children and the community. This requires regular training of staff and partners and continuous support. Intersectionality provides a framework to incorporate and expand on the CCIs

The four distinct CCIs represented a combination of approaches that are all relevant to the work of preventing and responding to child exploitation. However, this also proved to be limited. The data revealed that in addition to factors addressed by the CCIs (like age, gender, disability and parental care), multiple other and important factors need to inform programming. Moreover, when speaking to children about the risks of child exploitation, they rarely spoke about one factor but always factors in conjunction with others. For example, in the children's workshops, children were asked to come up with an imaginary friend (avatar) that was at risk of child exploitation. Afterwards, they were asked if one specific factor led to more or less risk of child exploitation for their avatar. If they took a step back, this meant less protection. If they took a step forward, it meant more protection.

F: If we think about age, is our new friend less or more protected from child exploitation?

All groups move one step back indicating less protection. F: Why does age lead to less protection?

P1: For our girl, she is blind and living on the streets. She

³⁹⁵ Workshop_Children_2

³⁹⁶ Workshops Children 2

is only 10 years old, so she is less protected.

P2: Kindu is a boy with a disability with support from TdH. He is 9 years old. Even though TdH is supporting him, he has been abused before so that's why we took a step back.

P3: With us, he is 49 years old with a disability. Even though he is above 18, he is still highly vulnerable, because he has a disability and has been discriminated against.

F: And if we are only looking at age?

Participants with the older avatar take a step forward towards more protection.³⁹⁵

This example illustrates a situation that happened often. When asked why they chose one or the other, children often mentioned multiple factors in their reasoning and some even found it hard to single out one factor.

"Disability can make girls more vulnerable when combined with other characteristics such as age, living conditions and economic background."³⁹⁶

This indicated that just focusing on singular factors might not be the best way to speak about risk of child exploitation. Table 14 below tabulates the relative number of times children mentioned factors that they identified as being important and related to child exploitation.

³⁹¹ Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1

³⁹² Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1

³⁹³ Key_Informant_Interview_Partner_4.2

³⁹⁴ Workshop_Children_4

Table 11. Intersectional factors that inform risk of exploitation as identified by children³⁹⁷



Vulnerabilities expand with compounding marginalisation across intersections of multiple factors related to children's identities. A partner staff member described this as 'multiple discrimination'.398 Whereas the single factors tackled by each CCI are important, they were understood and applied in isolation and sometimes to a limited extent. For example, Gender Mainstreaming was applied using a gender binary approach, limited to interventions for boys or girls. This framing did not allow for consideration of gender-diverse children, but also how marginalisation on account of being a girl might intersect with having a disability, or being in alternative care, and the impact of all these factors combined on risk of exploitation. Similar observations

were made for inclusion, where a staff member from a partner organisation shared that *'we are leaving so many things out'* because *'we only focus on the disability part' of a child and ignore 'other factors'* like their access to *'education...age, their ability'*.³⁹⁹

A partner staff member critiqued the CCIs because they saw the issues as *'highly interrelated*, ⁴⁰⁰ while others suggested a more *'comprehensive'*, ⁴⁰¹ a consolidated approach should be considered. In order to incorporate and expand upon the CCIs it was suggested that the conceptual framework of Intersectionality might be helpful.⁴⁰² Intersectionality was first introduced by feminist author Kimberlé Crenshaw, who studied the overlapping oppression faced by black women, on the basis of both gender and race.⁴⁰³ Intersectionality provides a lens to ensure that all the factors are acknowledged and brought into the response to a particular group.⁴⁰⁴ The concept is included in the Listen Up! Strategy as follows:

"Intersectionality is a theoretical framework that helps us think about overlapping or intersecting factors that can be empowering or oppressive. Over the past three decades the concept of intersectionality has

403 Crenshaw, 1989

broadened from considering the compounded oppression of gender and race to a limitless set of factors, including socioeconomic class, age, sexual orientation and disability.³²⁴⁰⁵

It was evident in interviews that intersectionality and child participation were recognised as part of the new strategy, as illustrated by a country office staff member who stated:

"New strategy is child centred. This needs to be emphasised in programming and the intersectionality approach as a principle."406

³⁹⁷ Workshop_Children_1; Workshop_Children_2; Workshop_Children_3; Workshop_Children_4.1; Workshop_Children_4.2

³⁹⁸ Key Informant Interview_Partner_3.2

³⁹⁹ Key Informant Interview_Partner_4.2

⁴⁰⁰ Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.2

⁴⁰¹ Key Informant Interview_Partner_4.2

⁴⁰² Key Informant Interview_Expert_7, Key Informant Interview_Partner_2.2, Key Informant Interview_Expert_6.1, Key Informant Interview_Partner_4.2, Key Informant Interview_Staff_3.2, Key Informant Interview_Partner_2., Key Informant Interview_Staff_3.1

⁴⁰⁴ Crenshaw, 1989

⁴⁰⁵ Terre des Hommes Netherlands, 2023b

⁴⁰⁶ Key Informant Interview_Staff_3.1



4.1 Introduction

The chapter makes recommendations for decisions about the way forward. These recommendations were informed by the consolidated lessons learned from reflections on the CCIs implementation. Additionally, three core principles of the TdH NL Theory of Change 2022 and five strategic goals of the TdH NL Listen Up strategy 2023 - 2030 were carefully considered.

Moving forward, rather than continuing with the four distinct CCIs, it is strongly recommended that these are replaced by a focus on intersectionality, gender and children at the centre, in line with the ToC and Listen UP! strategy 2023 -2030. For this to be achieved, **consistent and structural leadership, clear lines of accountability** and **sufficient resource allocation** will be needed. Further, **policies, guidelines, training and learning** need to be supported structurally by **appointed focal points** with clear mandates and in collaboration with the various Heads of Programmes.

CHAPTER 4 CHARTING AWAY FORWARD

4.2 Reccomendations

There are five key recommendations discussed (informed by the research findings) with key propositions for adoption by management to inform organisational direction and policies.

1. Embed important principles for effective programming in strategic goals and core principles as opposed to stand alone cross-cutting issues

As pointed out in the findings section (Chapter 3), the CCIs were not explicitly linked to strategic plans, and neither were they prioritised in annual plans. As such, not much effort went into ensuring proper resource allocation for their implementation. Their significance showed up during the reporting period and only because they were incorporated into the monitoring dashboard. Their importance and significance in understanding and tackling child exploitation was largely reduced to a compliance exercise. The research findings point out the limitations of having a singular factors/ issues focus that limit the understanding of child exploitation. Children during the study workshops pointed out a number of factors that expand vulnerability. Similarly, partners and TdH NL staff mentioned that the CCIs are interrelated, describing multiple discrimination which calls for a more comprehensive and consolidated approach to understanding vulnerability to child exploitation. This finding confirms that **taking an intersectional approach is recommended**.

Embedding important principles for effective programming in the core principles and strategic goals will ensure relevance to the strategy and systematic inclusion into the design of programmes and operations. The strategic Goals and Core Principles already provide the thinking and framework for achieving this: structurally embedding child participation and intersectionality.

The Theory of Change and the Listen Up! Strategy 2023-2030 incorporates the ambitions of child participation (as children at the centre), gender, disability inclusion and alternative care (as intersectionality and power awareness) into core principles and some of the goals. As detailed in Table 10, the first three core principles and elements of five of the eight Goals (Goal One, Three, Four, Six and Seven) include direct links to the ambitions of the CCIs as we know them.

Figure 27. Core principles and strategic goals with links to the CCIs



1. Accountable partnerships TdH NL engages in meaningful partnerships that always remain accountable to children and communities

GENERATE AND SHARE KNOWLEDGE

3. Child participation Children are empowered to participate in building and sharing knowledge on child exploitation

4. Insight TdH NL uses an intersectional approach to generate new insight into what works to prevent or stop child exploitation

Aligned to this recommendation, the proposed way forward is to:

- 1. Replace the four CCIs with a focus on children at the centre and intersectionality.
- 2. Define, in policy, the TdH NL approach to child participation, gender and sexuality, disability, children deprived of parental or family care, children from marginalised groups, children on the move and children in humanitarian emergencies.

2. Provide stable leadership and accountability

Rapid changes in organisational strategic direction and staff and management turnover hindered the meaningful adoption of the CCI framework. With consistent leadership, the seven-year Listen Up! Strategy allows time for change to come about and ambitions to be realised. The opportunity exists for leadership to drive change, and for restructuring of the organisation to align the skill of the workforce in order to deliver on the ToC and strategy.

INFLUENCE SUSTAINABLE CHANGE



6. Action

TdH NL supports the implementation of evidence-based, scalable and sustainable programmes to stop child exploitation in a systemic way

7. Advocacy

TdH NL engages in evidence-based advocacy with and for children at local, national, regional and international levels to prevent and stop child exploitation

It is therefore recommended that:

- 1. Leadership continues to provide consistency and ensure organisationwide accountability to bring about desired change.
- 2. Lines of accountability are clarified, so that it is understood who is responsible for embedding child participation (children at the centre) and an intersectional approach to programming. This applies to delivering on the goals and objectives of the Strategy, but also the Core Principles.

Leadership and accountability will ensure that child participation (children at the centre) and intersectionality are championed and structurally resourced including skilling of the workforce to deliver on them.

3. Support implementation

Significant long-term investment is needed to embed new ways of working, at scale. As summarised by a staff member, in the complex environment of their implementing partners *'extra care, time, and preparation'* was needed where approaches were in opposition to local norms.⁴⁰⁷ It is recommended that resources needed include time, funding and technical support.

During the research, participants shared that projects that are 'just for one, two or three *years*' do not allow time for new approaches to 'stick'.408 Timelines for implementation should account for the time needed for children, families and communities and partner organisations to be 'orientated'409 on new concepts and for attitudes to shift. It was observed that even where partner organisations found it 'difficult to integrate' new approaches, 'as the years went by, they integrated it well in terms of implementation and project design'.⁴¹⁰ An expert interviewed emphasised that 'time is really important' to build solid partnerships:

"With some partners we have worked for a decade. investing and building trust, building a shared understanding. Often our perspective starts to align and materialise as part of the project.²⁹411

As such, three interrelated recommendations follow:

First, longer-term investment in partnerships is recommended, approaching bringing about systemic change as a 'journey⁴¹² together. Activities that include child participation, empowerment and

advocacy are processes that take time. Implementing meaningful child participation that moves beyond consultation, to collaborative or even child-led work, must unfold at a pace that does not compromise safety and well-being. In some contexts, this may take years, as one partner staff member put it: 'we do not rush children,' especially if they have been victimised and their reason for engaging with the organisation includes 'healing and recovery'.413 An expert interviewed explained how working with partners and children long-term enabled them to progressively challenge the tension between child protection and participation: As part of this journey, the risks that we have been able to take increased over time'.414 Furthermore, realising advocacy outcomes also takes time. For example, a like-minded organisation described how after extensive lobbying, an ordinance 'eventually passed after...years'.415

Secondly, budgeting should take into account the material and human resources required to deliver. Some participants

recommended ring-fenced budgets, for example a key informant suggested that it was good practice that 'UNICEF is mandated to spend a minimum 15% on gender equality activities.⁴¹⁶ Another suggestion was to budget to accommodate the specific inclusion needs of some children, for example, budgeting for them to be accompanied by a peer to assist them, an interpreter, extra staff or space.⁴¹⁷ Finally, some staff expressed that they simply

⁴⁰⁷ Key Informant Interview_Staff_1.1

- ⁴⁰⁸ Key Informant Interview_Staff_1.3
- ⁴⁰⁹ Key Informant Interview_Staff_1.1, Key Informant Interview_Partner_1.1
- ⁴¹⁰ Key Informant Interview_Staff_3.1
- ⁴¹¹ Key Informant Interview_Expert_5
- ⁴¹² Key Informant Interview_Expert_5
- ⁴¹³ Kev Informant Interview Partner 3.1
- ⁴¹⁴ Key Informant Interview_Expert_5
- ⁴¹⁵ Key Informant Interview_Likeminded organisation_3
- ⁴¹⁶ Key Informant Interview_Expert_6.1
- ⁴¹⁷ Key Informant Interview_Expert_7

needed more time to engage and support work in the field, which indicates a need for human resource management at country and programme level:

"I wish that we could invest more. and we have more time at the country level to improve the quality of the work we do. I was very much in the field, talking, listening to people's stories and asking them what they think... but now we have one or two people in the Country Office, and that makes it impossible to spend time supporting partners or building **quality.**²²⁴¹⁸

Lastly, it is recommended that dedicated focal point roles be implemented to support policy and practice. Focal points were identified within some partner organisations, for example a gender focal point was identified in projects in two countries and in some places partners worked closely with gender and disability focal points in local government.419

Focal points should provide subject-matter expertise to programme design, and technical advice during implementation. Focal points should coordinate policy and guideline development and support training and learning for integration of policy into practice.

Based on the Listen Up! Strategy it is proposed (to the extent possible) that focal points roles might include:

- Child participation (children at the centre)
- Safety and well-being (including trauma informed care and safeguarding

implementation)

- Intersectionality and power awareness
- Age
- Gender and sexuality
- Disability
- Children out of parental or family care
- Children from especially marginalised (ethnic, caste or religious) groups
- Children on the move
- Child protection in humanitarian emergencies
- Climate change and child exploitation

It is possible that these focal point roles could have overlaps with some thematic Programme lead roles, for this reason, it is recommended to have a clear RACSI **matrix** that resolves overlap. It is also recommended to have clear objectives for the focal point roles, ensuring time allocation through performance management for structured implementation support to teams.

Some topics are new, and others are controversial in prohibitive social, religious or cultural contexts where social norms that undermine children's rights. Problems like sexism, ableism, ageism, classism, racism and homophobia, to name a few, make it difficult to have open discussions about gender and intersectionality. This will require us to develop methods to generate and share methods that are respectful yet effective. It is therefore suggested that a phased approach be taken.

4. Provide structured. ongoing training and learning opportunities

Findings from the study in Chapter Three (Insights Gained from Five Years of Experience) highlighted a lack of clarity and knowledge gap in understanding

⁴¹⁸ Key Informant Interview_Staff_1.1

⁴¹⁹ Key Informant Interview_Staff_1.2, Report_2018_3.5, Report_2019_3.3

the key concepts in almost all the four cross-cutting issues and how they relate to child exploitation. In some cases, child exploitation was also not clearly understood. Across groups of respondents, **child exploitation was conflated child labour or physical abuse.**⁴¹⁹

For effective implementation of the Core Principles and Strategic Goals with links to the CCIs, it is necessary that children, communities, partners and TdH NL teams are all on the same page. This regards clarity on:

- · What child exploitation is;
- Risk factors for child exploitation;
- Core principles in the Theory of Change and their relevance in addressing child exploitation, and;
- Concepts in Strategic Goals with links to cross-cutting issues (children at the centre, safety and wellbeing, intersectionality - to include gender, disability, children deprived of parental or family care, children form marginalised ethnicities or castes, children on the move).

It is recommended that **clarity on these topics as well as the urgency to address them should spread to children and communities**. This can be achieved by having structured awareness and training sessions organised for and by children and communities through inclusion of training sessions in project and programme design. As projects and programmes are being implemented, they also take into account awareness on these important issues.

Secondly, structured and ongoing training and learning opportunities should be offered to TdH NL staff and partners. Continuous support should be provided as part of the training follow up to overcome issues with staff turn-over. All staff and partners should be systematically trained on the Core Principles and Strategic Goals with links to cross-cutting issues as part of knowledge building on child exploitation. All staff and partners should participate in training (in person and online) as part of programmatic induction into the TdH NL way of working. The training for staff and partners should be accompanied by a toolkit with templates to enable them to put in practice the knowledge and skills gained, as well as a framework for tracking progress and evaluating the benefits of this training.

5. Adaptable framework

Although the CCIs stipulated context analysis at proposal development stage, sustained engagement with the analyses was not always reflected throughout the project or programme implementation phase. All the same, implementation of the CCIs varied from country to country to accommodate differences in cultural and social norms. This finding demonstrates the need for an adaptable framework that provides for flexibility in application of the principles for effective programming. In a sense **process and progress is recommended rather than compliance with minimum requirements**.

Using an adaptable framework calls for appreciating the different contexts where children and communities live, and the different manifestations of child exploitation. This approach is well aligned with Goal One in the Listen Up! strategy as it contributes to having meaningful partnerships. It is highly recommended that application of the Core Principles and rolling out of the Strategic Goals prioritises a **context-informed approach**. This means that the framework should not be rigid but should allow for different departure points and speed of implementation. As much as possible, a co-design process with children and communities is highly recommended. This calls for a recognition of what is contextually

Figure 28. Children in Bangladesh sharing their understanding of alternative care.



relevant, where the children and communities are (both strengths and gaps) and also the potential for challenging social and cultural norms that could potentially hinder the full realisation of child rights.

⁴¹⁹ Workshop_Children_1, Workshop_Community_1, Workshop_Children_2, Workshop_Community_2, Workshop_ Children_3, Workshop_Community_3, Workshop_Children_4.1, Workshop_Children_4.2

REFERENCES

Bald, A., Doyle, J. J., Gross, M., & Jacob, B. A. (2022). Economics of Foster Care. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *36*(2), 223–246. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.36.2.223</u>

Ben-Arieh, A., & Attar-Schwartz, S. (2013). An ecological approach to children's rights and participation: Interrelationships and correlates of rights in different ecological systems. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 83*(1), 94–106. <u>https://doi.</u> <u>org/10.1111/ajop.12003</u>

Bovarnick, S., & Cody, C. (2021). Putting risk into perspective: Lessons for children and youth services from a participatory advocacy project with survivors of sexual violence in Albania, Moldova and Serbia. *Children and Youth Services Review, 126*, 106003. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>childyouth.2021.106003</u>

Brodie, I., D'Arcy, K., Harris, J., Roker, D., Shuker, & Pearce, J. (2016). The participation of young people in child sexual exploitation services: A scoping review of the literature. University of Bedfordshire.

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1986). Ecology of the family as a context for human development: Research perspectives. *Developmental Psychology, 22*(6), 723–742. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.22.6.723</u>

Bruck, S., Ben-Arieh, A., & Kosher, H. (2022). Dealing with Child Maltreatment Through Child Participation. In *Handbook of Child Maltreatment* (pp. 181–198). Springer.

Buffalo center for social research. (2022). *What is Trauma-Informed Care?* Social Work Buffalo. <u>https://socialwork.buffalo.edu/</u> <u>social-research/institutes-centers/institute-</u> <u>on-trauma-and-trauma-informed-care/</u> what-is-trauma-informed-care.html

Burger, K. (2017). The role of social and psychological resources in children's perception of their participation rights. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 79, 139–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>childyouth.2017.06.019</u>

Cambridge Dictionary. (2022a). Impairment. In Impairment, Cambridge Dictionary. https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/ english/impairment

Cambridge Dictionary. (2022b). Rehabilitation. In *Https://dictionary. cambridge.org/dictionary/english/ rehabilitation*. <u>https://dictionary.cambridge.</u> org/dictionary/english/rehabilitation

Cambridge Dictionary. (2022c). Relocation. In *Relocation, Cambridge Dictionary*. <u>https://</u><u>dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/</u><u>relocation</u>

Child Frontiers. (2017). *An assessment* of standards in shelter care in Asia and development of a Terre des Hommes Netherlands policy and strategy on alternative care—Final report. Terre des Hommes Netherlands.

Cody, C. (2013). *What do we know about... Safe accommodation and alternative care for children affected by sexual exploitation and related trafficking? - Working Paper.* Perth College - University of the Highlands and Islands. Cody, C. (2017). *Connecting the Dots: Supporting the Recovery and Reintegration of Children Affected by Sexual Exploitation* [Thematic Report]. <u>https://ecpat.org/</u> <u>wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Access-to-</u> <u>Justice-Thematic-Report-Connecting-the-</u> <u>dots.pdf</u>

Coltof. (2021). Cycles of exploitation: The links between children's institutions and human trafficking. LUMOS. <u>https://</u> <u>lumos.contentfiles.net/media/documents/</u> <u>document/2021/12/LUMOS_Cycles_of_</u> <u>exploitation.pdf</u>

Council of Europe. (2021). *Contribution by the Council of Europe Secretariat to the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child's Day of General Discussion on 'Children's Rights and Alternative Care'*, 16-17 September 2021.

CPSS. (2019). *Guidance on Child Safeguarding*. <u>https://www.</u> <u>humanitarianresponse.info/sites/www.</u> <u>humanitarianresponse.info/files/documents/</u> <u>files/guidance_on_child_safeguarding-_</u> <u>cpss_11_september_hj2.pdf</u>

Crenshaw, K. (1989). Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics. *University of Chicago Legal Forum*, 1989(1).

Crenshaw, K. (1990). Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color. *Stanford Law Review*, 43, 1241.

Crenshaw, K. (2017, June 8). *Kimberlé Crenshaw on Intersectionality, More than Two Decades Later* [Interview]. <u>https://www.</u> <u>law.columbia.edu/news/archive/kimberle-</u> <u>crenshaw-intersectionality-more-two-</u> <u>decades-later</u>

Delap, E., Thompstone, G., & Delaney, S. (2017). *An assessment of standards in*

shelter care in Asia and development of a Terre des Hommes Netherlands policy and strategy on alternative care—Final Report. Terre des Hommes Netherlands.

Department for Education UK. (2021). *The Children Act 1989 guidance and regulations*. <u>https://assets.publishing</u>. <u>service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/</u> <u>uploads/attachment_data/file/1000549/</u> <u>The_Children_Act_1989_guidance_and_</u> <u>regulations_Volume_2_care_planning_</u> <u>placement_and_case_review.pdf</u>

Directorate of Internal Oversight. (2015). *Evaluation of Gender Mainstreaming in Cooperation*. Council of Europe.

Downie, R. (2016). *Sustaining Improvements to Public Health in Ethiopia.* https://doi. org/10.13140/RG.2.1.4640.8087

ECOSOC. (1997). *Report of the UN Economic and Social Council For 1997* (A/52/3) (p. 27). UN ECOSOC. <u>https://</u> www.un.org/womenwatch/osagi/pdf/ <u>ECOSOCAC1997.2.PDF</u>

Erwin, E. J., Maude, S. P., Palmer, S. B., Summers, J. A., Brotherson, M. J., Haines, S. J., Stroup-Rentier, V., Zheng, Y., & Peck, N. F. (2016). Fostering the Foundations of Self-Determination in Early Childhood: A Process for Enhancing Child Outcomes Across Home and School. *Early Childhood Education Journal, 44*(4), 325–333. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1007/s10643-015-0710-9

Fang, Z., Cerna-Turoff, I., Zhang, C., Lu, M., Lachman, J. M., & Barlow, J. (2022). Global estimates of violence against children with disabilities: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health, 6*(5), 313–323. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(22)00033-5

Font, S. A., & Gershoff, E. T. (2020). Foster Care: How We Can, and Should, Do More for Maltreated Children. *Social Policy Report, 33*(3), 1–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sop2.10</u> Fuentes-Peláez, N., Montserrat, C., Sitjes-Figueras, R., & Crous, G. (2022). Breaking the silence on special needs children in foster care: The diversity of children in foster care, carers and processes. *Children* & *Society*, *36*(2), 183–200. <u>https://doi. org/10.1111/chso.12510</u>

Global Initiative to End All Corporal Punishment of Children. (2020, February 27). *Grenada prohibits corporal punishment in child care services and as a sentence for a crime*.

Government of the Netherlands. (2022). *What is child abuse?* <u>https://www.</u> government.nl/topics/child-abuse/what-ischild-abuse#:~:text=Child%20abuse%20 is%20not%20just,a%20form%20of%20 domestic%20violence%2

Greenwood, S. (2020, June 25). The Global Divide on Homosexuality Persists. *Pew Research Center's Global Attitudes Project*. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/</u> <u>global/2020/06/25/global-divide-on-</u> <u>homosexuality-persists/</u>

Groce, N., Kett, M., Lang, R., & Trani, J.-F. (2011). Disability and Poverty: The need for a more nuanced understanding of implications for development policy and practice. *Third World Quarterly, 32*(8), 1493–1513. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2011.604520

Guidelines for the Participation of Children in the ICBR's Project Management and Programmes. (2018). International Bureau for Children's Rights. <u>http://www.ibcr.org/</u> wp-content/uploads/2018/06/Lignesdirectrices-participation-AN_WEB.pdf

Hailemariam, M., Felton, J. W., Key, K., Greer, D., Jefferson, B. L., Muhammad, J., Miller, R., Richie, F., Robinson, D., Saddler, S., Spencer, B., Summers, M., White, J. M. C., & Johnson, J. E. (2020). Intersectionality, special populations, needs and suggestions: The Flint Women's study. *International Journal for Equity in Health, 19*(1), 18. <u>https://doi.</u>

org/10.1186/s12939-020-1133-9

Hallett, S., Deerfield, K., & Hudson, K. (2019). The Same but Different? Exploring the Links between Gender, Trauma, Sexual Exploitation and Harmful Sexual Behaviours. *Child Abuse Review, 28*(6), 442–454. https://doi.org/10.1002/car.2591

Hughes, T. L., Quinn, C., Tiberi, A., & Zeleke, W. A. (2020). Developing a Framework to Increase Access to Mental Health Services for Children With Special Needs in Ethiopia. *Frontiers in Sociology, 5*, 583931. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.3389/fsoc.2020.583931

Hulshof, H. (2019). Child participation in evaluating social protection projects: Do global development actors walk the talk? *Progress in Development Studies, 19*(1), 1–20. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1177/1464993418805170

ILO. (2020). *Developing National Action Plans on Forced Labour Annex 1: Glossary: Definitions*. <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/</u> <u>groups/public/---ed_norm/---declaration/</u> <u>documents/publication/wcms_762182.pdf</u>

InHope. (2020). *Annual Report 2020* [Annual Report]. <u>https://inhope.org/media/pages/</u> the-facts/download-our-whitepapers/ annual-report/bb4dd3cdc3-1628156678/ inhope-annual-report-2020.pdf

Inter Agency Standing Committee. (2015). Guidelines for Integrating Gender-Based Violence Interventions in Humanitarian Action: Reducing risk, promotimg resilience and aiding recovery. https:// interagencystandingcommittee.org/system/ files/2015-iasc-gender-based-violenceguidelines_lo-res.pdf

Inter Agency Working Group on Sexual Exploitation of Children. (2016). T*erminology Guidelines for the Protection of Children from Sexual Exploitation and Abuse. ECPAT International.* <u>https://ecpat.org/luxembourg-</u> <u>guidelines/</u> International bureau for children's rights. (2018). *Guidelines for the Participation of Children in the ICBR's Project Management and Programmes, 2018.* International bureau for children's rights. <u>https://www.ibcr.org/</u> <u>wp-content/uploads/2018/06/Lignes-</u> <u>directrices-participation-AN_WEB.pdf</u>

JOFA. (2022). Joining Forces for Africa: Learning series on child participation (p. 11). Joining Forces for Africa. <u>https://joining-forces.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/</u> Learning-series-on-child-participation-Learning-Brief-JOFA-April-2022.pdf

Johnson, V. (2017). Moving beyond voice in children and young people's participation. *Action Research*, *15*(1), 104–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1476750317698025</u>

Jones, C., Taylor, J., Cameron, A., Franklin, A., Stalker, K., & Fry, D. (2015). *Deaf and disabled children talking about child protection.*

Jones, L., Bellis, M. A., Wood, S., Hughes, K., McCoy, E., Eckley, L., Bates, G., Mikton, C., Shakespeare, T., & Officer, A. (2012). Prevalence and risk of violence against children with disabilities: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *The Lancet, 380*(9845), 899– 907. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-</u> 6736(12)60692-8

Kågesten, A., Gibbs, S., Blum, R. W., Moreau, C., Chandra-Mouli, V., Herbert, A., & Amin, A. (2016). Understanding Factors that Shape Gender Attitudes in Early Adolescence Globally: A Mixed-Methods Systematic Review. *PLOS ONE, 11(*6), e0157805. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157805

Kasirye, R., Bukuluki, P., & Walakira, E. J. (2022). Building resilience in survivors of sexual exploitation: The role of children in activities implemented by NGOs in Uganda. *Vulnerable Children and Youth Studies*, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17450128.2022.207</u> 2989 Kaur, R., Vinnakota, A., Panigrahi, S., & Manasa, R. V. (2018). A Descriptive Study on Behavioral and Emotional Problems in Orphans and Other Vulnerable Children Staying in Institutional Homes. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, *40*(2), 161–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/IJPSYM.</u> <u>IJPSYM_316_17</u>

Kelly, B., Dowling, S., & Winter, K. (2016). *Profiling the Population of Disabled Children in Out-Of-Home Care in Northern Ireland.* OFMDFM & QUB.

Keuroghlian, A. S., Mujugira, A., & Mayer, K. H. (2021). Healthcare worker training to improve quality of care for sexual and gender minority people in sub-Saharan Africa: Learning from efforts in Uganda. *Journal of the International AIDS Society,* 24(S3). https://doi.org/10.1002/jia2.25728

Konstantopoulou, F., & Mantziou, I. (2020). Maltreatment in residential child protection care: A review of the literature. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience & Mental Health, 3*(2), 99–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.26386/obrela.</u> v3i2.171

Kvrgic, S., & Jovovic, J. (2003). Children without parental care as a vulnerable category. *Medicinski Pregled*, *56*(9–10), 436–438. <u>https://doi.org/10.2298/</u> <u>MPNS0310436K</u>

Lefevre, M., Hickle, K., & Luckock, B. (2018). 'Both/And' Not 'Either/Or': Reconciling Rights to Protection and Participation in Working with Child Sexual Exploitation. *The British Journal of Social Work*. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1093/bjsw/bcy106

Lodha, P. (2019). Queer Children as Survivors of Child Sexual Abuse. *Global Bioethics Enquiry Journal, 7*(1), 36. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.38020/GBE.71.2019.36-39

Lundy, L. (2007). Voice is not enough: Conceptualising Article 12 of the United Nations Convention of the Rights of the Child. *British Educational Research Journal,* 33(6), 927–942.

Manalastas, E. J. (2013). Sexual Orientation and Suicide Risk in the Philippines: Evidence from a Nationally Representative Sample of Young Filipino Men. *Philippine Journal of Psychology*, *46*(1), 1–13.

Mitchell, K. J., Jones, L. M., Finkelhor, D., & Wolak, J. (2011). Internet-Facilitated Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children: Findings From a Nationally Representative Sample of Law Enforcement Agencies in the United States. *Sexual Abuse, 23*(1), 43–71. https://doi.org/10.1177/1079063210374347

Morgenroth, T., Sendén, M. G., Lindqvist, A., Renström, E. A., Ryan, M. K., & Morton, T. A. (2021). Defending the Sex/Gender Binary: The Role of Gender Identification and Need for Closure. *Social Psychological and Personality Science, 12*(5), 731–740. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1177/1948550620937188

Morley, C., Clarke, J., Leggatt-Cook, C., & Shkalla, D. (2021). Can a Paradigm Shift from Risk Management to Critical Reflection Improve Child-Inclusive Practice? *Societies, 12*(1), 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/</u> <u>soc12010001</u>

Nadan, Y., & Korbin, J. (2018). Cultural Context, Intersectionality, and Child Vulnerability. *Childhood Vulnerability Journal, 1*(1), 5–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/</u> <u>s41255-019-00003-7</u>

National Centre Against Bullying. (2022). National Centre Against Bullying: Definition of bullying, 2022. National Centre Against Bullying: Definition of Bullying. National domestic violence hotline. (2022). National domestic violence hotline: Emotional abuse. <u>https://www.thehotline.</u> org/

Nuri, R., Aldersey, H., & Ghahari, S. (2018). Needs of families of children with Cerebral Palsy in Bangladesh: A qualitative study. *Child: Care, Health and Development, 45.* <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12624</u>

Office to Monitor and Combat Trafficking in Persons. (2018). *Child institutionalisation and human trafficking.*

OHCHR. (2014). *OHCHR Report 2014*. https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/1_ The_whole_Report_2014.pdf

OHCHR. (2020). Child Rights and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development Accelerated action and transformative pathways: Realizing the decade of action and delivery for sustainable development. UN. https://sustainabledevelopment. un.org/content/documents/26130Child_ Rights_2030_Agenda_HLPF_2020.pdf

Ortega-Barón, J., Machimbarrena, J. M., Calvete, E., Orue, I., Pereda, N., & González-Cabrera, J. (2022). Epidemiology of online sexual solicitation and interaction of minors with adults: A longitudinal study. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 131*, 105759. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2022.105759

Overs, C. (2015). BOOSHTEE! Survival and Resilience in Ethiopia. *IDS Evidence Report*, *129.*

Practice Standards in Child Participation. (2017). Step Ahead. <u>https://</u> <u>stepaheadthailand.org/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2021/06/Step-Ahead-Child-</u> <u>Participation-Standards.pdf</u>

RAINN. (2022). *RAINN Sexual Harassment. Sexual Harassment*. <u>https://www.rainn.org/</u> articles/sexual-harassment

Rimmerman, A. (2012). Social Inclusion of People with Disabilities: National and International Perspectives (1st ed.). Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1017/CBO9781139035668

Rohwerder, B. (2015). *Disability Inclusion: Topic Guide*. 54.

Rubenstein, E., Bock, E., Brochu, P., & Byrne, T. (2022). Quantifying the intersection of disability and homelessness in Massachusetts public schools in 2018–2019. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 48(4), 569–577. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12961</u>

Sanchez-Gomez, M. (2012). *Child Abuse in Fosterr Care: Risk Factors.* California Polythechnic State University.

Save the Children. (2017). Save the Children Definition of Child Protection. Save the Children Definition of Child Protection. https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/ document/save-childrens-definition-childprotection/

Secretariat of the Lanzarote Committee. (2019). *Guidelines for Implementation of Child Participation In the 2nd thematic monitoring round of the Lanzarote Convention on "The protection of children against sexual exploitation and sexual abuse facilitated by information and communication technologies (ICTs)"*. Council of Europe. <u>https://rm.coe.int/guidelines-forimplementation-of-child-participation-in-</u> <u>the-2nd-monito/16808a3956</u>

Shier, H. (2001). Pathways to participation: Openings, opportunities and obligations. *Children & Society, 15(*2), 107–117. <u>https://</u> <u>doi.org/10.1002/chi.617</u>

Sinclair, R. (2004). Participation in practice: Making it meaningful, effective and sustainable. *Children & Society, 18*(2), 106–118. https://doi.org/10.1002/chi.817

Special Rapporteur on the sale and sexual exploitation of children. (2012). *Report of the Special Rapporteur on the sale and sexual exploitation of children: Child participation as a key element in preventing and combating the sale and sexual exploitation of children* (Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Sale and Sexual Exploitation of Children A/67/291; Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Sale and Sexual Exploitation of Children: Child Participation, p. 25). United Nations. <u>https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/</u> <u>UNDOC/GEN/N12/459/24/PDF/N1245924.</u> <u>pdf?OpenElement</u>

Stewart, R., Wright, B., Smith, L., Roberts, S., & Russell, N. (2021). Gendered stereotypes and norms: A systematic review of interventions designed to shift attitudes and behaviour. *Heliyon*, *7*(4), e06660. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e06660

Tao Joiner, T. (2015, October 9). *Child* participation: It's about the adults, too. World Vision. <u>https://www.wvi.org/child-</u> participation/blogpost/child-participationit%E2%80%99s-about-adults-too

Terre des Hommes International Federation. (2019). *TDHIF Position on Child Participation.*

Terre des Hommes Netherlands. (2016). *Child Safeguarding Policy Terre des Hommes Netherlands.*

Terre des Hommes Netherlands. (2017a). *Guidance Note Cross-cutting issues partner contract review.*

Terre des Hommes Netherlands. (2017b). cross-cutting Issues: 'User Friendly' Guidelines. Terre des Hommes Netherlands.

Terre des Hommes Netherlands. (2018). Cross-cutting Issues Introduction for Thailand.

Terre des Hommes Netherlands. (2019a). *CCI Curriculum—Explanatory Notes for L&E.* Terre des Hommes Netherlands. (2019b). *Cross-Cutting Issues General Framework 2019-2020.*

Terre des Hommes Netherlands. (2021). *Exposing Hidden Exploitation Strategy 2021-2025.*

Terre des Hommes Netherlands. (2022).

Your Views on the Future 2022 Children's Survey—Terre des Hommes Netherlands Listen Up! Strategy input from children in eight countries. https://docs.google. com/document/d/1vmkTiuiQkIGNiFREy2uTE6n2nS5PycgYTe0jzVyeyk/ edit#heading=h.mq6bvvwlm1jn

Terre des Hommes Netherlands. (2023a). *Children at the centre.*

Terre des Hommes Netherlands. (2023b). *Listen Up! Strategy 2023-2030.*

UN Migration. (2022). UN migration, SOGIESC. https://www.iom.int/sites/g/files/ tmzbdl486/files/documents/IOM-SOGIESC-Glossary-of-Terms.pdf

UN SRSG/VAC (Office of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on Violence Against Children). (2021). *When Children Take the Lead: 10 Child Participation Approaches to Tackle Violence*. United Nations. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.18356/9789210049870

UN Women. (2022). *Handbook on Gender Mainstreaming for Gender Equality Results. UN.* <u>https://www.unwomen.org/sites/</u> <u>default/files/2022-02/Handbook-on-gender-</u> <u>mainstreaming-for-gender-equality-results-</u> <u>en.pdf</u>

UNDP. (2011). The Sustainable Development Goals: Sexual and Gender Minorities. UN.

UNESCO. (2014). *Holistic Early Childhood Development Index* (HECDI) Framework.

UNFPA-UNICEF. (2021). Joint Evaluation of the UNFPA-UNICEF Joint Programme on the Elimination of Female Genital Mutilation: Accelerating Change Phase III (2018-2021). https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/ admin-resource/thematic%20note%201_ gender_final.pdf

UNGA. (2010a). *Guidelines for the Alternative Care of Children.* UN.

UNGA. (2010b). *Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 18 December 2009.* UN.

UNICEF. (2011). UNICEF 2011: THE STATE OF THE WORLD'S CHILDREN 2011. https:// www.unicef.org/media/84876/file/SOWC-2011.pdf

UNICEF. (2014). *Measuring the determinants of childhood vulnerability* (p. 34) [Synthesis Report].

UNICEF. (2020). Research on the Sexual Exploitation of Boys: Findings, ethical considerations and methodological challenges. UNICEF.

UNICEF, & ILO. (2020). *Child Labour: Global estimates 2020, trends and the road forward.*

UN-REDD. (2013). *Gender sensitive*. Gender Sensitive, UN-REDD Programme. <u>https://</u> www.un-redd.org/glossary/gender-sensitive

Upadhyay, J. (2007). *Ensuring meaningful child and youth participation in the fight against commercial sexual exploitation of children: The ECPAT experience*. ECPAT International.

van IJzendoorn, M. H., Bakermans-Kranenburg, M. J., Duschinsky, R., Fox, N. A., Goldman, P. S., Gunnar, M. R., Johnson, D. E., Nelson, C. A., Reijman, S., Skinner, G. C. M., Zeanah, C. H., & Sonuga-Barke, E. J. S. (2020). Institutionalisation and deinstitutionalisation of children 1: A systematic and integrative review of evidence regarding effects on development. *The Lancet Psychiatry, 7*(8), 703–720. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30399-2</u>

WHO. (2011). World Report on Disability. https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789241564182

Wickramarathne, N., & Gunaratne, N.

(2019). Another Forgotten Child: Towards Implementation of Reforms to Better Prevent and Respond to Child Sexual Abuse in Alternative Care Settings in Sri Lanka. *Institutionalised Children Explorations and Beyond, 6*(1), 67–73. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1177/2349301120190109

Wissink, I. B., van Vugt, E., Moonen, X., Stams, G.-J. J. M., & Hendriks, J. (2015). Sexual abuse involving children with an intellectual disability (ID): A narrative review. *Research in Developmental Disabilities, 36*, 20–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>ridd.2014.09.007</u>

Wong, N. T., Zimmerman, M. A., & Parker, E. A. (2010). A Typology of Youth Participation and Empowerment for Child and Adolescent Health Promotion. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *46*(1–2), 100–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-010-9330-0 Woodman, E., Roche, S., & McArthur, M. (2022). Children's participation in child protection—How do practitioners understand children's participation in practice? *Child & Family Social Work*, cfs.12947. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12947

Yarcia, L. E., de Vela, T. C., & Tan, M. L. (2019). Queer Identity and Gender-Related Rights in Post-Colonial Philippines. *Australian Journal of Asian Law, 20*, 265.

Yitzhak Cohen, O., & Ben-Arieh, A. (2021). Maltreated Children in Emergency Centers: Do They Participate? And how Satisfied Are They? *International Journal on Child Maltreatment: Research, Policy and Practice, 4*(3), 279–305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/</u> <u>s42448-021-00081-x</u>